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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of Kidztech Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
it is my pleasure to present to you the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024" or the “period”).

In 2024, the global economic growth hovered at a low level.
The U.S. economy witnessed a gradual cooling of demand,
while the European economy slowly recovered; the economic
landscape in various countries appeared particularly intricate
and challenging. The new policies set to be implemented by
the new US President Trump accelerated the rise of trade
protectionism and the imposed stringent tariffs could lead
to a global economic downturn. Looking back at Chinese
situation, the Chinese economy operated smoothly overall,
with steady progress and the gradual development of new
productive forces. However, factors such as a deep adjustment
in the real estate market, insufficient demand, and low social
expectations have contributed to weak economic growth
and a decline in overall consumer spending. In 2024, the
global toy market has shown signs of recovery, although the
growth remained slow and gradual. Geopolitical tensions,
protectionism, and fluctuations in financial markets continued to
impact the market. In the third quarter of 2024, U.S. toy sales
stabilized after a period of decline, with recovery occurring
at a faster pace than in the European market. Concurrently,
the Al toy market experienced rapid growth, with the market
size reaching US$18.1 billion in 2024. The Group navigated
a complex environment while intensifying efforts to explore
opportunities in emerging markets. Since last year, the Company
has outsourced a significant portion of our orders to reduce
fixed staff costs and machinery maintenance costs, and
implemented a strategy focused on cost control, low margins,
and steady sales. During these challenging operational times,
the Company has maintained market competitiveness and
technological advantages in research and development, thus
achieving a strategy aimed at enhancing quality for progression.
Furthermore, the Company actively expanded into high-end
sectors, artificial intelligence, and green-related products and
technologies, and offered a diversified product portfolio and
services to strengthen the Group’s ability to mitigate market
risks.
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The Group continued to make optimization in various aspects
such as market expansion, brand building, research and
development and innovation, risk management, and talent
attraction, so as to improve quality, raise efficiency and enhance
core competitiveness. The Group will improve the plan for talent
team building in terms of product development and production,
and intensify the quality control standards and licensing of
intellectual property rights in different fields of product design,
including smart toy vehicles, toy vehicles non-fungible token,
animation themes, metaverse, virtual reality and augmented
reality, etc., so as to add new elements to innovative smart toy
cars and drive the market to achieve new breakthroughs.

Yu Huang
Chairman
31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR D

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group has a vision of becoming a smart interactive
entertainment product provider. The Group is principally engaged
in the design, development, manufacture and sale of high-quality
smart toy vehicles, smart interactive toys and traditional toys
and the sale of smart hardware products.

Revenue

The Group's total revenue significantly increased by
approximately 66.5% from approximately RMB131.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB218.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024"). The
significant increase in revenue was primarily due to the fact that
the Group focused on Hong Kong export-oriented wholesalers
to expand a diversified customer base in emerging Asian
markets, and implemented the low gross profit sales strategy
for product diversification externally, with an aim to develop a
potential market growth point. In addition, certain stockpiled
raw materials and electronic parts were sold to clients at low
gross profit by the Group during the period, so as to speed
up the inventory turnover, reduce the risk of overstocking and
accelerate the flow of cash. As decided by the management, the
sales of raw materials and electronic parts will be discontinued
in 2025 as low gross profit sales are detrimental to the long-term
development of the Company.

Analysis of revenue by product type is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
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— Smart toy vehicles — FREBEE 215,410 126,340
Raw materials and electronic parts R REFEH 3,363 5,069
218,773 131,409
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Smart toys
Smart toy vehicles

The Group's smart toy vehicles increased year on year by
approximately 70.5% as compared to the same period of the last
year was mainly due to the adjustment of sales strategies by the
Group, that is, developing emerging markets with exportoriented
wholesalers in Hong Kong, in order to capture the opportunity
for diversification, and new customer base in such regions as
well as conduct a rush-release with a lower profit margin for
products mainly comprising of full function radio controlled toy
vehicles, which are manufactured in different scales. During
FY2024, the Group’'s smart toy vehicles were mostly “kidztech”
brand products and co-branded products collectively released
by the Company and renowned automobile manufacturers. The
Group also manufactures under overseas customers’ brands on
original equipment manufacturing (“OEM") and original design
manufacturing (“"ODM") bases.

Smart interactive toys

The Group's smart interactive toys mainly are produced and sold
for under the "kidztech” brand, and comprise smart interactive
playsets, activity toys and musical toys, and some of these
toys which play music and contain play features are intended to
stimulate the sensory development of children. During 2024, the
Group did not record any revenue from smart interactive toys
(during 2023: nil).

Traditional toys

Traditional toys include traditional toy vehicles, traditional
educational toys, dolls and other traditional toys such as outdoor
and sport as well as infant toys. During 2024, the Group did
not record any revenue from traditional toys (during 2023: Nil).
In light of the quiet domestic retail market and low gross profit
margins in the PRC, the Group suspended the production and
sales of traditional toys until the market conditions improve.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWE DT

Brands

The Group’s smart toys, traditional toy and smart hardware
products are (i) branded with its "“kidztech” brand; (ii)
cobranded with renowned automobile manufacturers, popular
entertainment characters featured in animated television series
or motion pictures or toy brand owner; or (iii) branded under
its overseas customers’ brands, which mainly represent the
products manufactured by the Group on ODM and OEM bases
and the products sold to its customers branded under their
respective brands.

The Group believes that co-branding with other famous brands
allows the Group to leverage on the marketing benefits of the
internationally renowned brands to expediently gain consumer
awareness, and recognition of authenticity, and to establish
creditability and market acceptance from the mass market.
The Group will continue to look for collaboration opportunities
with other well-known brands and apply for licensed rights of
renowned toy and entertainment character in due course to
improve the marketability of our products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2025, global economic growth is expected to
remain stable or experience a slight rebound. Trade in services
and green trade are set to become new growth drivers. Major
economies will continue to implement accommodative monetary
policies, such as interest rate cuts and reserve requirement
reductions, to ensure an effective balance between economic
growth and price stability. Innovations in artificial intelligence
technology will continue to serve as a crucial new force in
driving global economic growth. With the inauguration of the
U.S. President Trump, the global trade landscape is poised for
an unprecedented transformation. Protectionist trade policies,
particularly the imposition of high tariffs on “competitive
nations” such as China and Europe, are likely to exacerbate
global trade wars. This could disrupt global supply chains,
increase trade costs, and impede the pace of global economic
recovery. The Chinese government will focus its economic
efforts on "“seeking progress while maintaining stability,
promoting stability through progress, upholding integrity while
fostering innovation, establishing before dismantling, and
integrating systems with coordinated efforts”. The Group is
actively developing trade in services, green trade, and digital
trade, while promoting the high-quality joint construction
of the Belt and Road Initiative to enhance global industrial
division and cooperation. The Group is optimistic about the
orderly recovery and upward trajectory of China’'s economy,
anticipating a rebound in the domestic consumer market,
which will drive growth in the toy retail industry. The Group is
committed to exploring opportunities in emerging countries
around the “Belt and Road Initiative”, while expanding into
high-end, artificial intelligence, and green-related products
and technology industries. By offering a diversified product
portfolio and services, the Group aims to strengthen its market
competitiveness.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWE DT

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit increased from approximately RMB15.0
million for FY2023 to approximately RMB18.3 million for
FY2024, representing an increase of approximately 22.0%.
The Group's gross profit margin decreased by approximately
3% from approximately 11.4% in FY2023 to approximately
8.4% in FY2024. It was mainly attributable to implementation
of the low gross profit sales strategy by the Group to expand
the emerging markets in Asia Pacific for attracting long-term
high-quality customer groups, with an aim to develop a potential
market growth point for us. In addition, in order to speed up the
inventory turnover to reduce the risk, certain raw materials were
sold to suppliers at low gross profit.

Loss for the year

The Group's net loss decreased from approximately RMB98.3
million for FY2023 to a net loss of approximately RMB61.1
million for FY2024. It was mainly attributable to the increase in
sales revenue, as well as the decrease in net impairment losses
on trade and other receivables and finance costs.

Selling expenses

The Group's selling expenses decreased from approximately
RMB1.6 million for FY2023 to approximately RMB7 thousand
for FY2024, which was primarily due to the fact that the freight
expenses and market expenses were handled and paid by Hong
Kong wholesalers.

Administrative expenses

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by
approximately 4.3% from approximately RMB35.1 million in
FY2023 to approximately RMB33.6 million in FY2024, which
was mainly attributable to the further decrease in employee
expenditure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net impairment losses on trade and other
receivables

The Group’'s net impairment losses on trade and other
receivables decreased from approximately RMB40.7 million
for FY2023 to approximately RMB31.4 million for FY2024,
representing a decrease of approximately 23.0%. It was mainly
because the lifetime expected loss provision for trade and other
receivables decreased during the period. For details, please refer
to notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Taxation expense

Taxation expense of approximately RMBO0.3 million in FY2024,
representing a significant decrease from the taxation expense of
approximately RMB6.9 million in FY2023, which was mainly due
to the notable change of deferred taxation during the period.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio, which
represents the Group's total borrowings divided by total
equity, was approximately 44.0% (31 December 2023: 42.7%).
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total borrowings
were approximately RMB125.8 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB143.7 million) and the total equity was
approximately RMB285.9 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB336.9 million). The total borrowings
represent the outstanding loans of the Group. The gearing ratio
of the Group had been stabilised.

The current ratio, which is calculated based on the total current
assets at the respective dates divided by the total current
liabilities at the respective dates, was approximately 1.4 as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: approximately 1.5);
whereas the quick ratio, which is calculated based on the total
current assets (excluding inventories) at the respective dates
divided by the total current liabilities at the respective dates,
was approximately 1.4 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: approximately 1.4).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWE DT

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB10.7 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB48.9 million), representing a decrease
of approximately RMB38.2 million, which was mainly due to the
purchase of plant, machinery and equipment.

Working capital

The average inventory turnover period of the Group was
approximately 40.0 days in FY2024 (FY2023: approximately 55.5
days), generally remaining stable.

The Group’'s trade receivables increased from approximately
RMB247.4 million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB301.3 million as at 31 December 2024, which was mainly
due to an increase of sales of the Group during the period. The
Group's average turnover days of trade receivables decreased
from approximately 332.0 days in FY2023 to approximately
296.0 days in FY2024.

The Group's prepayments and other receivables decreased from
approximately RMB137.7 million as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB82.6 million as at 31 December 2024, which
was mainly attributable to effective and due collection of other
receivables during the period.

The Group’'s trade and other payables increased by
approximately RMB3.3 million or approximately 2.4% from
approximately RMB136.7 million as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB140.0 million as at 31 December 2024,
mainly due to an increase in sales and relative increase in the
amount of procurement of raw materials. The Group’s average
trade payable turnover days decreased from approximately 173.9
days in FY2023 to approximately 95.3 days in FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, all the bank and other borrowings,
amounting to approximately RMB125.8 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB143.7 million), were repayable on
demand and with fixed interest rate of 2.25% to 18.00%. The
bank and other borrowings are predominantly denominated in
RMB.

The weighted average effective interest rate as at 31
December 2024 was approximately 7.9% (31 December 2023:
approximately 7.9%).

Convertible Bonds

On 20 December 2024, the Company issued convertible bonds
in an aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000 with
12% interest per annum and two-year lifespan to Renxiang
Technology Company Limited, under the general mandate
granted to the Directors (the “2024 CB"). Based on the initial
conversion of each conversion share price of HK$0.160, the
2024 CB can be converted into 124,910,000 conversion shares.
The conversion price of HK$0.160 represented a premium of
approximately 4.58% to the closing price of HK$0.153 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 3 December 2024, being
the date of the relevant subscription agreement.

The gross proceeds from the issue of the 2024 CB were
HK$20,000,000 and the net proceeds from the issue of the
2024 CB were approximately HK$20 million (after deducting
the related expenses and professional fees). The Group intends
to use the net proceeds from the 2024 CB for the purpose
of repayment of debts of the Group and for general working
capital, including repayment of the staff costs, legal and
professional fees, auditor's remuneration, rental expenses
and other operating expenses. The Directors are of the view
that (i) the subscription agreement was entered into upon
normal commercial terms following arm’s length negotiations
between the Company and the subscriber; (ii) the conversion
price represents a premium to the recent price of the Shares;
and (iii) the interest payable by the Company to the bondholder
is comparatively lower than the market interest rate provided
by financial institutes. Accordingly, the Directors consider
that the Subscription (including terms of the 2024 CB) was
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole. Details are disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 3 December 2024 and 20
December 2024.
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As at 31 December 2024, there were outstanding convertible
bonds with an aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$20 million (31 December 2023: Nil), the net proceeds
were fully utilised as intended. The table below sets out the
detailed breakdown and description of the actual use of the net
proceeds:

RZZE-_WMFE+A=+—8B" &
REENITRBREFNESERLY
BB BB L(ZEZ=F+= A
=+—H:E) MABREBEFED
B TERBRBHEBA  TREY A
BREFENHALEERESABR -

Percentage to Amount utilised Remaining

Allocation of the total net up to 31 balance as of 31

net proceeds proceeds December 2024 December 2024

Actual use of net proceeds (HKS) (%) (HKS) (HK$)

ERENE BE-B-NE BE-I-QNE

BEORNAER BFEW t-A=+-H T=A=t-AH

BERE B4t  EBBRNSE BE

FERERENERAR (B7) (%) (Brm) (A7)

Repayment of debts EEEH approximately 75 approximately 0.0
15,000,000 15,000,000
#15,000,000 #915,000,000

General working capital -REEES approximately 25 approximately 0.0
5,000,000 5,000,000
#75,000,000 #75,000,000

Total fhs Approximately 100 Approximately 0.0
20,000,000 20,000,000
#920,000,000 #920,000,000

Significant investments, material acquisitions
and disposal of subsidiaries

The Group did not have any significant investments, material

acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during FY2024.

Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any other
plans for material investments and capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital structure

The capital structure of the Group is mainly based on the
equity attributable to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) (including share capital and reserves). As at
31 December 2024, the total number of issued ordinary Shares
of the Company was 624,564,000 with a par value of HK$0.001
each (31 December 2023: 624,564,000 Shares). Details of which
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
as set out in this annual report.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, certain bank and other borrowings
of the Group were secured by property, plant and equipment
and restricted cash. Details of which are set out in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual
report.

Save for the above, there was no charge on assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2024.

Contingent liabilities

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liability as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: Nil).

Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had an aggregate capital

commitment of approximately RMB13.1 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB17.4 million).
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Financial management and treasury policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility
of the Group’'s treasury function at its head office. The Group
adopted prudent funding and treasury management policies
while maintaining an overall healthy financial position. The
Group's source of funding was raised by cash generated from
operating activities and bank borrowings. The Group's treasury
policies mainly include managing capital liquidity and vyield to
safeguard the healthy development of the principal businesses
of the Group. The Group regularly reviews its major funding
positions to ensure that it has adequate financial resources
in meeting its financial obligations. The Group is from time to
time considering various alternatives including but not limited
to financial institution borrowings, non-financial institution
borrowings, bonds issuance, etc.

Foreign exchange exposure

The Group’s operating subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
operates with most transactions being settled in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except for certain transactions which are
denominated in US dollars (“USD") or other currencies. The
functional currency of these subsidiaries is USD. The Group's
operating subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC operate in the
PRC and their functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). As at 31
December 2024, foreign exchange risk arose mainly from certain
balances of the operating subsidiaries in Hong Kong which are
denominated in HK$. The Directors consider that no significant
foreign exchange risk exists for the Group. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 March 2025, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding agreement with Shandong Enesoon New Material
Technology Company Limited and Enesoon (Shenzhen) High-end
Intelligent Equipment Company Limited for strategic cooperation
in relation to capital investment operations, the establishment
of a joint industrial investment fund, asset restructuring and
merger, trusteeship and technology equity investment, which
will enable the Company to carry out businesses in various
development sectors, including the solar power generation
industrial cluster, molten-salt energy storage technology
matrix, intelligent equipment innovation system, and artificial
intelligence application ecosystem. Details of the above are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 10 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 32 (2023: 27) full-time
employees, of which, 5 of them were in Hong Kong and the rest
of them were stationed in Shantou and Shenzhen, the PRC. The
significantly decrease of employees was mainly because the
Company outsourced part of production progress to suppliers/
subcontractors.

The remuneration packages offered by the Group to its
employees, including salaries, accidental insurance and
allowances, depend on their job nature. Bonuses are generally
discretionary and based in part on employee performance and
in part on the overall performance of the Group’s business. The
Group has implemented training programmes for its employees
to meet different job requirements, such as training on
production procedures for its staff at its production department.
It is believed that these initiatives have contributed to the
increased productivity of employees of the Group. The Group
has also adopted a share option scheme to reward, among
others, its employees for their contribution to the Group (the
“Share Option Scheme”), details of which are set out in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” below of this annual
report.

As required by the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Group
has participated in housing fund and various employee social
security plans that are organised by applicable local municipal
and provincial governments, including housing, pension, medical,
work-related injury and unemployment benefit plans, under
which contributions were made at specified percentages of the
salaries of its employees. Bonuses are generally discretionary
and based in part on employee performance and in part on the
overall performance of its business.

The Group has arranged for its employees in Hong Kong to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
the Group’s company in Hong Kong (the employer) and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5%
of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory
Provident Fund legislation. The monthly contributions of each
of the Group’s companies and its employees are subject to a
cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The
Group’s contributions to the defined contribution scheme are
expensed as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited
by those employees who leave the plans prior to vesting fully in
the contributions.
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OUTLOOK

With the aim of further developing its business and continuing
its growth and also taking into account the development of the
current situation as well as the everchanging global geopolitics
environment and international order, the Group will implement

the following strategies:
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continue to prioritise and focus on overseas market by (i)
maintaining and strengthening relationship with its existing
direct overseas customers; and (ii) expanding the customer
base and continuing to focus on development in Chinese
market;

continue to strengthen, expand and diversify its
customer base by focusing on (i) the Hong Kong and PRC
Export-Oriented Wholesalers; and (ii) the PRC retailers;

diversify its product offerings through continuous
development of new products and global licensing strategy;

expand its production capacity through outsourced part
of production progress to suppliers/sub-contractors and
improve its production efficiency;

allocate more resources to expand sales of domestic and
emerging Asian markets; and

provide a more diversified product portfolio and services
through cooperation opportunities in expanding into
industrial sectors of high-end, artificial-intelligence, green
related products and technologies.
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CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the
importance of sound corporate governance to the long-term
success and continuing development of the Group. Therefore,
the Board is committed to upholding good corporate standards
and procedures, so as to improve the accountability system and
transparency of the Group, protect the interests and create value
for Shareholders.

During FY2024, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) in Part 2 of Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), save and except the deviation
as follows:

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yu Huang is currently
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of
the Group. Mr. Yu Huang has been responsible for the overall
management of the Group since the establishment of the
Group. The Board believes that the current structure enables the
Group to make and implement business decisions swiftly and
effectively which promotes the Group’s development in line with
other strategies and business direction. The Board considers
that the balance of power and authority, accountability and
independent decision-making under the present arrangement
will not be impaired because of the diverse background and
experience of the executive Directors, non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors. Further, the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), which consists of
independent non-executive Directors, has free and direct access
to the Company's external auditors and independent professional
advisers when it considers necessary. Therefore, the Directors
consider that the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In order to
maintain good corporate governance and to fully comply with
the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board will regularly
review the need to appoint different individuals to perform
the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
separately.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code, the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against the Directors. The Company does not have
insurance cover in this respect because the Board believes that
the Director’s risk of being sued or getting involved in litigation
in their capacity as Directors is relatively low. The Board will
review the need for taking out this sort of insurance from time
to time.
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EERRE

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standard, to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements and to meet the rising expectations of the
shareholders and investors.

Board of Directors

The Board is directly, and indirectly through its various
committees (the “Board Committees”), responsible for the
overall management of the business of the Group, formulating
the Group’'s overall strategic direction and maintaining
appropriate levels of supervision, challenge and guidance in
its relationship with the management. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the day-to-day management and administration of the Group.
The Board is provided with updates from the management to
give a balanced and easily understandable assessment of the
performance, recent development and prospects of the Group
on a regular basis.

The Board is the ultimate decision-making body for all
matters considered material to the Group and discharges its
responsibilities on corporate governance either by itself or the
Board Committees set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code which include the following:

1. to develop and review the policies and practice
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

3. toreview and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to the Directors and

employees; and

to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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Composition of the Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors,
including two executive Directors, one non-executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Qiang

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zheng Jingyun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Huang Chunlian
(appointed on 15 July 2024)
Ms. Wang Shiling
Mr. Gong Lan
Mr. He Weidong
(resigned on 15 July 2024)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 37 to 40 of this annual report.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing not less than one-third
of the Board and at least one of whom has the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his/her independence, and the Company considers that as at
the date of this annual report such Directors are independent in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there are no other
relationship (including financial, business, family, and other
material/relevant relationships) among the members of the
Board as of the date of this report.
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Board Diversity

The Board admits that board diversity is increasingly important
as a factor to enhance corporate governance and promote board
effectiveness. The current Board composition is well balanced
with each Director having skills, experience and expertise
relevant to the business operations, development and strategy
of the Group and from a variety of backgrounds. Furthermore,
as at the date of this report, the Board has a wide range of age,
ranging from 29 years old to 56 years old, and has achieved
gender diversity by having three male Directors and three
female Directors. The Board is well balanced and diversified
in education, professional background, functional expertise,
gender, age, culture and industrial experience.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board and the
factors (including but not limited to skills, regional and industry
experience, professional experience, background, education,
race, gender, age, culture and other qualities, etc.) to be
considered in determining the composition of the Board so
as to ensure the Board has the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to
support the execution of its business strategy and to maximise
the Board’'s effectiveness. The Board will review the Board
diversity policy on a regular basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

After reviewing the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, the Company considers that it has been effectively
implemented. As of 31 December 2024, the Company has
achieved the following measurable objectives set out in the
Board Diversity Policy:

° There is at least one female member in the Board: As of 31
December 2024, the Board has three female members and
three male members, allowing the Company to achieve the
gender diversity of the Board at 50%.

° There should be a reasonable age structure among
members of the Board: As of 31 December 2024, members
of the Board have a reasonable age structure, with five
directors aged 29 to 50 and one director aged 51 to 61.

° Members of the Board should possess relevant
professional experience: As of 31 December 2024,
members of the Board possess wide range of professional
experience, including but not limited to corporate strategic
planning, corporate management, finance and financial
affairs.
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The Board considers that the current gender diversity above
is satisfactory, and committed to further improving gender
diversity as and when suitable candidates are identified. For
further details, please refer to our ESG Report.

The Company has implemented appropriate recruitment
and selection procedures to provide career development
opportunities for suitable female candidates. The Directors are
of the view that this will help develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.

The Company is also committed to a work environment that is
both diverse and inclusive, where all colleagues feel respected
and empowered to bring their authentic selves to work every
day. Similar considerations are applied when recruiting and
selecting member of the senior management and other
personnel across the Group’s operations. As at 31 December
2024, 46% of our colleagues are female. For details, please
refer to our ESG Report.

Board Process and Meetings

The Board meets regularly to determine overall strategies,
receive management updates, approve business plans as well
as interim and annual results and to consider other significant
matters. Special Board meetings are convened as and when
needed. The management also provides updates to the Board
with respect to the business activities and development of the
Group at these meetings on a regular basis.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
Group’s development through his/her constructive and informed
comments. All the members of the Board disclose and update
their number and nature of offices held and time involved on a
regular basis.
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The Board held 4 meetings during FY2024 for discussing and EE €W -_Z - N KEEHMEH
approving the operation and business development of the 4X@ZF i wm T ERARANEER
Company, including without limitation, financial budget and X2 #E%E BEETE ARG HKEE
financial statements of the Company. The attendance of each MZARQTWEHMKERE - KSEFHFAR
Director at Board and committee meetings of the Company, ArAEZFehZE8eex(TmiEs
whether in person or by means of electronic communication, is S ABEFBEEFN)OBERFEHRT

detailed in the table below: *:

Attendance/No. of meetings held during FY2024
HERE, / R-B-_MUREENESRBERY

Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

EExe® FKZEE HFWZEE REZEE RREFAS

Executive Directors BTEE
Mr. Yu Huang REXHE 4/4 = . 2/2 n
Mr. Zhu Qiang KBLE 2/4 = 1/2 1/2 0/1
Non-executive Director  FHTEE
Ms. Zheng Jingyun BEERL 2/4 — — — n
Independent Non- BUFYTES

executive Directors
Ms. Wang Shiling FtRat 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 17
Mr. Gong Lan BREE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 17
Ms. Huang Chunlian BEEENT(R=-E-/F

(appointed on 15 July tATEREZE)

2024) 2/2 il — — 11
Mr. He Weidong fresigned  MIBREE(R-F-/F 0/2 0/1 0/1 0/1 =

on 15 July 2024) +AF+EAFF)
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Terms of Appointment and Re-Election of
Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract
with the Company and each independent non-executive
Director and the non-executive Director has signed a letter
of appointment. The said service contracts and letters of
appointment are for an initial term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, subject to re-election in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and
termination in accordance with their respective terms.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting and every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least every three years. However, a retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director who is appointed by
the Board to fill the casual vacancy and any Director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the first general meeting after his appointment
and the next following annual general meeting of the Company
respectively and shall be eligible for re-election pursuant to
Article 83(3) of the Articles.

As such, Mr. Yu Huang and Mr. Gong Lan will retire from
office as Director, and being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by
the Directors and the Group's senior management who, because
of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the Model Code during FY2024. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model
Code by the senior management of the Group during FY2024.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development EZIZI|IRBXRE

i

The Group acknowledges the importance of continuing ARNEBE FHEEEELEXREHESTH
4 &
B (=

professional development for the Directors to extend and & N # & F#% &

Eg:
refresh their knowledge and skills. Each Director keeps abreast EZHKRTFIEARNANREESTHNE T -
of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business IHTZ”%/SZ’KQEE}\]T‘%? CEEEE

activities and development of the Company. NER -
Pursuant to the requirements of the CG Code, all Directors #HRIE P XEATRIHE T MEES
should participate in continuous professional development to EQHFEHERRE  RRE T I
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, and should H %0 & f & - 17 JE [ A A 7 I 4
provide their training records to the Company. According to the HIEZ 3|28k - RIFE SRR HE B E I
training records provided by the Directors, the trainings attended 22 4% - )ﬁ%b‘é:gi B RFE 2
by them during FY2024 are summarised as follows: BA A9 35 B BE a0 T
Corporate Governance,
Regulatory
Development
and Trainings on
other relevant topics
TEESR EERER
Directors BEE Hih B9 & BT
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yu Huang RIS E 4
Mr. Zhu Qiang KR 5E A& v
Non-executive Director kHTES
Ms. Zheng Jingyun BEFEZ L 4
Independent Non-executive BIUHITES
Directors
Ms. Huang Chunlian sEHEX+t
(appointed on 15 July 2024) (R=ZFZpF+ A+ AHAEZE) v
Mr. He Weidong B REE
(resigned on 15 July 2024) (R=ZF-—pmF+A+A7HAFML) v
Ms. Wang Shiling Fi szt 4
Mr. Gong Lan ERELE v
Board Committees EEZEE
The Board has established three Board Committees, namely ZEEZE€RU=-"EAEEZ 8 - A
the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee (the BEZEE HFMWZEe((FMES
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee & RIELZZES([EEREET])-
(the “"Nomination Committee”), for overseeing particular UNEEAEEFERSFEE - FAEE S
aspects of the Group's affairs. All Board Committees were ZESHURELEERTUNZEH
established with written terms of reference in compliance with ?ﬂ'Jﬂ%\X?&\* WA E B EEE (A
the relevant code provisions of the CG Code, which are available 7 Bt 32 Ff 48 38 (www.hkexnews.hk)
at the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and K 728 A &) 48 v (www.kidztech.net) &
the Company (www.kidztech.net). ) o
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of the following members:
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Gong Lan* (Chairman)
Ms. Wang Shiling
Ms. Huang Chunlian
(appointed on 15 July 2024)
Mr. He Weidong
(resigned on 15 July 2024)

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others,
to make recommendation to the Board on appointment or
reappointment and removal of external auditor; review financial
statements of the Company and judgments in respect of
financial reporting; review the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function; and oversee the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group.

As disclosed above, during FY2024, 2 Audit Committee
meetings were held to review and discuss with the management
and the external auditor in respect of the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, reviewing the results for
FY2023 and unaudited interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2024, reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function, as well as the reviewing the effectiveness
of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the following
members:

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Wang Shiling (Chairlady)
Ms. Huang Chunlian
(appointed on 15 July 2024)
Mr. Gong Lan
Mr. He Weidong
(resigned on 15 July 2024)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Qiang
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of the Group and ensure that none of the Directors or any of
their associates determine their own remuneration as well as to
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed above, during FY2024, 2 Remuneration Committee
meeting was held to determine the policy for the remuneration
of executive Directors, assessing performance of executive
Directors and approving the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts, and reviewing and/or approving material matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
(including any potential grant of share options).

The Remuneration Committee determined the annual
remuneration of executive Directors and member of the senior
management based on the economic situation, the prevailing
market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by
each executive Director and member of the senior management
as well as their individual performance. The Remuneration
Committee subsequently made recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors
and member of the senior management. Pursuant to the code
provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the
member of senior management by band for FY2024 is set out
below:

FHZEemTERE/NAKE
PREFNSAEEENEBTM
BRERBRESTSRMHZZE &
REZHEETMPREATFL2HE
EBCHHMARRE EHRAE
TEEMR S AEERKRHAESR
ER -

SN EXCFrt c RZEZNBREE -
FGMEEeBRT2REeE  UEBTH
TEENFMNBRE  FHATES
MERBIHLERTEEREELD
B3 URIRE EWBRBE17EER
M/ EERBRDFEEBEE XS
HBeEREMNBEBRERL) -

B < % &
= %1,000,000/% 7T

Emolument bands
Nil to HKD1,000,000

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of the following members:
Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Huang Chunlian (Chairlady)
(appointed on 15 July 2024)

Ms. Wang Shiling

Mr. Gong Lan

Mr. He Weidong (Chairman)
(resigned on 15 July 2024)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huang
Mr. Zhu Qiang
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually,
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to appointment and reappointment of Directors.

To enhance the nomination process for a Director candidate,
a nomination policy was adopted during FY2024 as guidance
on the selection process and Board succession planning.
The Nomination Committee will utilise various methods for
identifying Director candidates, including recommendations
from the Board members, management, and professional
search firms and may review resume and job history, conduct
personal interviews and verification of professional and personal
references or perform the background checks, etc. On evaluation
of the Director candidates including incumbents and candidates
nominated by the Shareholders, the Board and the Nomination
Committee will take into account whether a candidate has the
qualifications, skills and experience, gender diversity, etc. that
can add to and complement the range of skills, experience
and background of the existing Directors and may consider the
following qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a
Director candidate for recommendation to the Board, or the
continued service of the existing Director:

° the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

° proven achievement and competence in the nominee’'s field
and the ability to exercise sound business judgment;

° skills that are complementary to those of the existing

Board members;

° the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

° an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is
required of a member of the Board and the commitment
of time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those
responsibilities; and

° independence as required by the Listing Rules.
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The Board and the Nomination Committee will also make
reference to the Board diversity policy, details of which are set
out in the section headed “Board Diversity” above.

The Board has established effective mechanisms, including
regular assessments of the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board.

As disclosed above, during FY2024, 2 Nomination Committee
meetings were held to review the structure of the Board and
assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and proposed appointment and re-appointment of
Directors.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Pak Lun resigned as company secretary on 1 March
2025. Mr. Chan has confirmed that he had attended no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in FY2024 in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Kam Chun Ying, Francis was appointed as company
secretary on 1 March 2025. Please refer to the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report for their biographical information.

Mr. Yu Huang, an executive director of the Company, is the
primary corporate contact person of the Company.

Directors’ and External Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation
of the financial statements which give a true and fair state of
affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements which
give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate
accounting policies should be selected and applied consistently.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
acknowledging their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report”
contained in this annual report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management
of the Group and has full authority to maintain the soundness
and effectiveness of the internal control system and risk
management procedures of the Group to ensure efficient and
effective use of the Group’s resources to assist the Group in
achieving its operation objectives, safeguarding the Group's
assets and ensuring compliance with laws and regulations.

The Group emphasizes the importance of a sound internal
control system which is also indispensable for mitigating the
Group's key risk exposures. The Group’'s system of internal
control is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems
and fulfillment of the business objectives. The internal control
system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board in order to
make it practical and effective in providing reasonable assurance
in relation to protection of material assets and Shareholders’
interests. During the year under review, an external independent
consultant has reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Group has adopted a
three-tier risk management approach to identify, assess and
manage different types of risks. At the first line of defence,
business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risk associated with each business or transaction.
The management, as the second line of defence, defines rule
sets and models, provides technical support, develops new
system and oversees portfolio management. It ensures risks are
within an acceptable range and that the first line of defence is
effective. As the third line of defense, the external independent
consultant assists the review of the first and second lines of
defence. The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation
and management of risks associated with its business activities
through ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering
the likelihood and impact of each identified risk. The Group
has implemented an effective control system which includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, a
sound management system and periodic review of the Group’s
performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.
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The Group follows strict procedures for handling and
disseminating inside information to ensure its confidentiality.

For FY2024, the external independent consultant, engaged
to review the Group's internal control systems and make
recommendations to improve our internal controls, has provided
written reports to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience, training and budget of the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions on an annual basis. Based on
the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that the Group’s
internal control system was generally effective.

Based on the above, the Board has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system of the Group pursuant to D.2.1 of the CG Code, covering
the material financial, operational and compliance controls, and
considers them generally effective and adequate in all material
respects. With a view of further enhancing the Group's internal
control system on an ongoing basis, the Group will continue to
engage external professional advisers to conduct reviews and
consider to establish a formal in-house internal audit department
where necessary from time to time, taking into account the
development of the business and the scale and complexity of
our operation in the future.

Auditor

The Company has engaged McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited as the auditor of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 upon the approval of the 2023 AGM of the
Company.
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Auditor's Remuneration

For FY2024, the fee paid or payable in respect of the services
provided by the auditor, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited, is as follows:

EEERRE

RBET &

R-Z_NUBREE AEBORE
(BER)EHMEBMERAAMIE
HERBENXELSERDOT

Amount
&8
RMB'000
AREEF T

Audit services E %R

670

Interim report review service FHSREEBRS 30

Total 4Bt

700

Shareholders’ Rights and Investor Relations

The Board values the communications with the Shareholders.
As one of the measures to safeguard the Shareholders’
interests and rights, separate resolutions will be proposed at
Shareholders’ meeting on each substantial issue including the
re-election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at
the Shareholders’ meeting will be conducted by poll pursuant
to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.kidztech.net).

Notice of the next annual general meeting of the Company will
be sent to the Shareholders not less than 21 days before the
said meeting.

BRERERNR IR EERE

EEeERERENER -EAH
F—EREREEDS RER 2 E i
ARFIRBEEACLRBEEREEH
(BEREEFENES)REB I RE
RoREBELMARA REERXGE
REZFHFERZRHAUKREFTAEX
RoREBERALERE T E DR A
44 34 (www.hkexnews.hk) & &K 2 &) 43
Uk (www.kidztech.net) °

ARB TEBRRBFAEEHBA

AR HA N PR2IBEXT
IR -

33



Kidztech Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERRE

Procedures and Right for Shareholders to
Convene Extraordinary General Meeting

The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") are subject to
the Articles, and the applicable legislation and regulations, in
particular the Listing Rules:

1. if any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company submit a written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company
by post to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit 2202, 22/F., Causeway Bay Plaza I,
489 Hennessy Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong with full
name, contact details and identification provided to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition; and

2. the Board should within 21 days from the date of the
deposit for the requisition proceed duly to convene the
EGM to be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If the Board fails to do so, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders may also make reference to Article 58 of the
Articles for further details.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meetings by shareholders

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association or
the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for
shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings other
than a proposal of a person for election as director. Shareholders
may follow the procedures set out above to convene an
extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director of the Company

If a Shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at
the general meeting convened to deal with the appointment or
election of Director(s), wishes to propose a person for election
as a Director at that meeting, he/she may lodge a written notice
at the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Unit 2202, 22/F., Causeway Bay Plaza |, 489 Hennessy Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the attention of the company
secretary of the Company. Detailed procedures for Shareholders
to propose a person for election as a Director of the Company
can be found on the Company's website (www.kidztech.net).

Investors Relations

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an ongoing
dialogue with the Shareholders through various channels
including general meetings, press releases, announcements and
corporate communications such as the annual report, interim
report and circulars. Latest news and updates of the Group's
business and operation are also available on the Company's
website (www.kidztech.net).
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The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication
policy. Enquiries and proposals from Shareholders, investors
and all stakeholders of the Company are welcomed. Enquiries
to the Board or the Company must be deposited at or sent by
post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit 2202, 22/F., Causeway Bay Plaza I, 489 Hennessy Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong with full name, contact details and
identification provided.

Any person having any enquiries in relation to the shareholdings,
share transfer or registration of the Company may contact the
Company's share registrar. Their contact details can be found on
the Company's website (www.kidztech.net).

During FY2024, the Company reviewed and considers that the
Shareholders communication policy was effectively implemented
with the above measures in place.

Constitutional Documents

During FY2024, there were no changes to the Articles of
the Company. The Articles is available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.kidztech.net).
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EERER

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huang (%48), aged 44, founded the Group through
the establishment of Shantou Chenghai Jinjun Toys Co., Ltd.*
(LEmEEEBEITABRAA) in June 2009. Mr. Yu is
the chairman, executive Director, chief executive officer and
controlling shareholder of the Company. He was appointed as a
Director in October 2019 and was re-designated as an executive
Director in November 2019.

Mr. Yu has over 12 years of experience in the toy manufacturing
and sale industry. Prior to the establishment of the Group, Mr.
Yu worked as the deputy general manager of Shantou Chenghai
Changxing Paper Foil Co., Ltd.* CUEEm A SRS EABEAR
22 A]) from July 2004 to March 2007 and the general manager
of Shantou Chenghai Jinjun Toys Factory* (Il 38 i & /& & 8
&£ Ir B B), which is primarily engaged in toy manufacturing,
from March 2007 to June 2009. Mr. Yu graduated from the
Guangdong Justice Police Vocational College* (/& & 7] /% Z B B
¥ E%) in the PRC and was awarded a professional diploma in
law.

Mr. Zhu Qiang (% 38), aged 37, was appointed as an executive
Director, a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company on 23
March 2022. Mr. Zhu is majoring in information security and
management at The Open University of China, and obtained
a master’'s degree in business administration from the Anglia
Ruskin University in the United Kingdom in October 2023. Mr.
Zhu has extensive experience in financial leasing and industrial
investment and financing management, and is experienced
in employing financial tools in combination with traditional
businesses. Mr. Zhu was the deputy general manager of
Zhongyue International Financial Leasing (Shenzhen) Co.,
Lid* (RFEBEBEREHRSEORINER AA) from July 2016 to
September 2018, primarily responsible for r|sk management of
finance lease assets, and the general manager of Wing Hang
International Capital Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (;k = B[R &
A3 B (R Y1) A R A F]) from October 2018 to January 2022.

EEERBFE

=2
HITES

REXEE 445 RZZTTALFARA
BB BETEERBRINAAR

BRABAIZAER - REERAR
AITR WMOTEE - TRERLE

BER - BRR_F-NFTAREZE
REZF YINR-_ZT-NF+-AEH
ERATES -

RAEEMARERIEE
BI2FEE - RNEKZLAE
%/_:EEA—YYP-—EIE'E“:H:(:
FZAEENEME SRS #E/
ERARBAKEE IR_ZTE
FZRAE-_ZETNFANAEMTINED
BERRETARFERERAR
HE)RKE - REEEERNPEMNE
RAZEEBREER T ERBEEZ
EEXE -

FHTHFH
IL\T
M “““HH*#

gl

- B
b @t

N

g
o

KEBEE 37 RZTE__F=H
TH+=ZHEZEXARTESE AR T
REALZEERFTHNEZESZENKE -
KEERBRABRKREETBEEEL
P REB YR _ZBE-_=F+FHR4E
AEZRF DB REIFHERE
mtEfg - XAEERNBERENE
¥R MEETEEFTAEBEEZELE R
WHEERERITEE ﬁﬁir"ﬂilﬂz
,é(«%ﬁ %ﬁiﬁfx\—g_/\i‘tﬂ S
T-NFLAETTEHEERELAE
(5%%”%@@575”?'@?&@ FE28FH
mMEHEEERRERE YR _Z
*A$+Hi_$::$ A& E K
THEBEEARAZERCREIDER AR
PR

37



Kidztech Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREHREEREEBE

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zheng Jingyun (B#Z), aged 50, was appointed as a
non-executive Director in November 2019. Ms. Zheng is mainly
responsible for advising on business strategy of the Group. She
joined the Group in April 2016 and was a director of Kidztech
Intelligent from April 2016 to October 2019.

Ms. Zheng was an executive director and a general manager of
various private companies.

Ms. Zheng graduated from Chengcheng Vocational and Technical
School* (B ¥ B % £ flr # 2) in the PRC.

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Wang Shiling (Et##88), aged 41, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company on
31 August 2021. She has over 10 years of experience in financial
management and risk control. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Wang worked in a number of investment and financial industry
companies. She has been the director of risk management of
Shenzhen City Guoan Yitong Investment Co., Ltd.* (F3I &
ZIEBEREAR AR since August 2017. Ms. Wang obtained
a Bachelor's degree in International Trade from the Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies in the Guangdong Province of the
PRC in December 2007.

Mr. Gong Lan (887%), aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee,
and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 23 March 2022.
Mr. Gong graduated from Shanghai Lixin University of Accounting
and Finance (formerly known as Lixin Accounting College) in
1994, majoring in foreign-related accounting, and obtained the
qualification of Chinese certified public accountant in 1999.
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Mr. Gong has over 20 years of financial management experience
in various industries including trading, industrial and investment.
From 1990 to 2005, he served as the internal audit and taxation
officer of Donghao Lansheng Exhibition Group Co., Ltd.* (E &
MEeREERMHERAQR) (a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange with stock code: 600826, formerly known
as Shanghai Lansheng Co., Ltd.* (L 8B EBRMDAER QA
and the financial manager of its subsidiary, Datang Lansheng
Communication and Navigation Technology Co., Ltd.* (K& &
ABEEMBEMARRQF). Mr. Gong served as the financial
manager of Shanghai Shanshan Xinmingda Industrial Co., Ltd.*
FEEEHREETEBR AT from January 2006 to May
2012 and the financial manager of Shanghai Ganyuan Trading
Co., Ltd.* (E/B2FRE S HMRAF]) from May 2012 to January
2021. He has been serving as the fmanmal manager of Shanghai
Ruiyixiang Industrial Co., Ltd.* (F B E LT EZE X AR A 7))
(formerly known as Shanghai Ruiyixiang Trading Co., Ltd.* ( £ )&
BEZLZHE 5 B AR since March 2021.

Ms. Huang Chunlian (Z£%& #), aged 29, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 15 July 2024. She
obtained a Bachelor's degree in Accounting from South China
Normal University (2 & 8 & X 28) in China in 2020. Ms. Huang
has accumulated over 7 years of experience in accounting and
financial management, and possesses expertise in customs,
logistics and related industries. Since January 2020, Ms. Huang
has served as the financial director of Shenzhen Guangyi
Xiangtong Trading Company Limited* (FY T ERHEEZE 5
B R AF]). Ms. Huang is currently serve as independent non-
executive director of each of Xinming China Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2699) and China Resources and Transportation
Group Limited (stock code: 269) since 9 August 2024 and 15
October 2024 respectively, both company are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange. From 30 April 2024 to 26 June
2024, Ms. Huang also served as an independent non-executive
director of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1152), a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange.

Ms. Huang has obtained legal advice from a firm of solicitors
under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules and has confirmed that
she understood her obligations as a Director.

Senior Management

Mr. Yu Huang (3R &), aged 44, is currently the chief executive
officer of the Company. For his biographical details, please refer
to the section headed “Executive Directors” above.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Kam Chun Ying, Francis (H & %), aged 58, was appointed
as the Company Secretary on 1 March 2025. He has over 30
years of experience in corporate and finance management. He
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since June 1996 and a fellow of the
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants since June 2001.
Mr. Kam graduated from Heriot-Watt University in the United
Kingdom in November 2004 with a master’s degree in business
administration. Mr. Kam has served as the qualified accountant
of Chongging Machinery & Electric Co., Ltd.* (B E#E K%
BT (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 02722.HK) since February 2008. He also
served as the company secretary of Xinming China Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 02699.HK) since July 2016 and served
as the chief investment officer since January 2017.
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The Directors hereby present their report and audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2024.

Principal Activities and Business Review

The Group is principally engaged in the design, development,
manufacture and sale of high-quality smart toy vehicles,
smart interactive toys and traditional toys. The products of the
Group are manufactured on an original brand manufacturing,
ODM and OEM bases, and are (i) branded with the Group's
“kidztech” brand; (ii) cobranded with (a) renowned automobile
manufacturers, (b) popular entertainment characters featured in
animated television series or motions pictures or (c) toy brand
owner; and (iii) branded under the Group’s overseas customers’
brands, which mainly represent the products the Group
manufactures on an ODM and OEM bases and the products sold
to the Group's customers branded under their respective brands.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

For discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of business,
important events to the business and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group's business, can be found in
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 6 to 18 of this annual report.

Segment Information

An analysis of the Group's performance for FY2024 by operating
segment is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for FY2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 100
of this annual report.

Declaration of dividends was subject to the discretion of the
Directors, depending on the results of operation, working
capital and cash position, future business and earnings, capital
requirements, contractual restrictions under the bank loan
agreements, if any, as well as any other factors which the
Directors might consider relevant. In addition, declaration and
payment as well as the amount of the dividends would be
subject to the provisions of the Articles and the applicable laws
of the Cayman Islands.
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The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for FY2024 (FY2023: Nil).

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five years, as extracted from the consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 196 of this annual
report.

An analysis using key financial performance indicators can be
found in section headed “"Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 18 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements during FY2024 in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements during FY2024 in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with
the applicable laws of the Cayman lIslands and the Articles
amounted to approximately RMB246,263,000. Details of the
movements in the reserves of the Group during FY2024 are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Equity Linked Agreement
Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option

Scheme” below, no equity-linked agreement was entered into
by the Group, or existed during FY2024.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme
on 13 February 2020, so as to grant options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group. Given that the Directors are entitled to determine
any performance targets to be achieved as well as the minimum
period that an option must be held before an option can be
exercised on a case by case basis, and that the exercise price
of an option cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated
in the Listing Rules or such higher price as may be fixed by the
Directors, it is expected that grantees of an option will make
an effort to contribute to the development of the Group to
bring about an increased market price of the Shares in order to
capitalise on the benefits of the options granted.

The Directors may, at its absolute discretion, grant options to
any of the following classes of participants: (a) any employee
(whether full-time or part-time including any executive director
but excluding any non-executive director) of the Company,
any of the subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”)
in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest
("Eligible Employee”); (b) any non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors of the Company,
any of the subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (c) any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (d) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of the business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any other
group or classes of participants who have contributed or may
contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group.
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The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company) to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue on
the Listing Date, being 52,000,000 Shares, which represented
approximately 8.33% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this
annual report. The total number of Shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company (including both exercised or outstanding options)
to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the number of Shares in issue for the time being. Any further
grant of options in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject to
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such grantee and
his associates abstaining from voting.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined at the discretion of the
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of the
Shares on the date of the offer for the grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option within
21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

Unless there is an early termination of the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, the Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period which may
not expire later than of 10 years commencing on the date on
which the Share Option Scheme is adopted and shall expire on
12 February 2030. The period during which an option may be
exercised will be determined by the Directors in their absolute
discretion, save that no option shall be exercised later than 10
years from the date of grant, subject to early termination of the
Share Option Scheme pursuant to the rules of the Share Option
Scheme. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is
no minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme for
the holding of an option before it can be exercised.
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On 21 June 2022, the Board granted 52,000,000 options to
certain employees of the Group at an exercise price of HK$1.17
per share under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total number
of options available for grant under the scheme limit of the
Share Option Scheme were 0 share and 0 share respectively,
representing 0% and 0% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of this annual report respectively. The number of Shares that
maybe issued in respect of options granted under the Share
Option Scheme represented approximately 8.33% of the issued
Shares of FY2024. There is no maximum entitlement for each
eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme and as at the
date of this annual report, no selected grantee has been granted
share options exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

During FY2024, movements of options granted under the Share
Option Scheme are set out below:
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The options were granted on 21 June 2022 by the
Company and are exercisable for 10 years from the
date of grant (i.e. 21 June 2022 to 20 June 2032 (both
days inclusive)). The options granted were vested
immediately upon grantees’ acceptance of such
options. These options are exercisable at HK$1.17
The closing price of the Shares immediately before
the date on which the options were granted was
HK$1.17. The options were granted after the market
closed on 20 June 2022 on which the closing price
was HK$1.15. The average closing price of five
trading days preceding the vesting of the options
was HK$1.17 per share. The options granted were
not subject to satisfaction of any performance target.
Please refer to note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for FY2024 for the fair
value of such options at the date of grant and the
accounting standard and policy adopted. No options
were exercised during FY2024 and 52,000,000
options were vested. There were no cancellation or
lapse of the options during FY2024.
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Disclosure of Interests

n

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in
the shares, the underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the
interest or short positions which any such Director or
chief executive was taken or deemed to have under such
provision of the SFO) or which, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, have been entered in the register referred to
therein, or have been, pursuant to the Model Code, notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Mr. Yu Huang (Note 1) Interested in a controlled 198,184,667  Long position 31.73%
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Note:

(1) Top Synergy Y&C Limited is owned as to approximately
94.79% by Mr. Yu Huang and as to approximately 5.21%
by Ms. Chen Cheng, respectively. Therefore, Mr. Yu Huang
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Top
Synergy Y&C Limited pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors nor chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest and short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, have been entered in the register referred to
therein, or have been, pursuant to the Model Code, notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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() Substantial Shareholders’ and Other

(n)

Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise
notified to the Company were as follows:

Number of the
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Approximate

Capacity/Nature Shares held/ Long/Short Percentage of
Name of Director of Interest interested in  position Shareholding
E=2-p 2=
BEEpgs 8 5/ EREE ENRGOBE #%A BRABRES®
Ms. Chen Cheng (Note 1) Interest of spouse 198,184,667  Long position 31.73%
PR 58 2+ (MY sE1) Bic 48 # 25 HE
Top Synergy Y&C Limited Beneficial owner 198,184,667  Long position 31.73%
BB A HaE
Gold-Face Finance Limited Corporation having 122,700,000  Long position 19.65%
(Note 2) security interest in
shares
HRGBEER DT BEROERERZ HE
(Bt 3£ 2) EE TR
Upbest Group Limited Interest in a controlled 122,700,000 Long position 19.65%
(Note 2) corporation
EREEBRAQA R B & "R
(Bt 5E2)
Renxiang Technology Beneficial owner 124,910,000 Long position 20%
Company Limited
(Note 3)
CHERZERQA(MFEI) EaaA HE
Chen Yirui (Note 3) Interest of controlled 124,910,000 Long position 20%
corporation
PR 12 8% (Bt 7E3) PR B = A
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Notes:

(1) Ms. Chen Cheng is the spouse of Mr. Yu Huang. Therefore,
Ms. Chen Cheng is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares that Mr. Yu Huang is interested in pursuant to the
SFO.

(2)  As security for a loan provided by Gold-Face Finance Limited
to the Company, Top Synergy Y&C Limited as chargor
has charged 122,700,000 shares in favour of Gold-Face
Finance Limited. Gold-Face Finance Limited is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Upbest Group Limited. For
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 23 December 2021 and 16 September 2022.

(3)  On 3 December 2024, Renxiang Technology Company
Limited, which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Chen Yirui, subscribed convertible bonds in aggregate
principal amount of HK$20 million which can be convertible
into 124,910,000 conversion shares at conversion price of
HK$0.160 per conversion share. For details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 3 December
2024 and 20 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no
person other than the Directors and chief executive of
the Company whose interests are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares, the Underlying Shares
or Debentures” above, had notified the Company of
an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debenture of the Company that was required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

B 33

(1) BREZLARERENERS -
Hit - RIEZFHFRBEEM -
MELZIHEAEREBLE
GERINFAEROTES
R o

2 EAHRPBEAERAFBAR
NAIREERTROER  Top
Synergy Y&C Limited {E /& 8
RARBRYBEERRDBE
# 7122,700,0008% B% 15 © 15
RMBERLAAREEER
BERARZEEBEZENB R
Rle#FBHBE2MEARARS
E-_—F+-_A=-+=BK=
ZZZFNA+RNBZRE -

3) R-ZE-_MWMF+=-A=H"{=
HERIEERAR (AREH L
E2EREBEZEAIRELS
48 %8 2208 &8 T A A R
EH MSARRKRESA
EHBRESRBERERK%H0.160
7 JT B ¥ 5124,910,000% #
BAEHD - BEFIE B2
ARABIRPA-ZT-_MFE+=
A=ZBER-_Z-_Mm&+=-A
“+HRRE -

BREXFHBEEEIN R2F
“mFE+=ZA=1+—8" Mﬁk
T(ARRAEERERITTRAR
RO HERHEREXEEFR
ESTBRASREN - HERK
MREREFOED KRB —
1) B mARAEMERARAE R
fr MHEROXERETHEAR
ALBRARARIEEF KRB
5 16 B £ 33615% /,\?“T_EE’J”QE
ey s oKk B AR IR & 2
&ﬁﬁiéﬂﬂﬁﬂ%xv%%z&%aﬁ
BB M6 XA TR BR A B & S0OR

A

=



Major Customers and Suppliers

During FY2024, so far as the Company is aware, the aggregate
revenue attributable to the five largest customers and the
largest customer accounted for approximately 94% (2023: 76%)
and 24% (2023: 23%), respectively, of the Group’s total revenue
for FY2024. Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 97% (2023: 94%) of the Group's
total purchase for FY2024 and the purchase from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 64% (2023:
52%), respectively, of the Group’s total purchase for FY2024.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, or any
of their close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) or
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital), had
any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers during FY2024.

Directors

The Directors during FY2024 and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Qiang

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zheng Jingyun

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Huang Chunlian
(appointed on 15 July 2024)
Mr. He Weidong
(resigned on 15 July 2024)
Ms. Wang Shiling
Mr. Gong Lan

—EoNER FLEZRERATF

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExgRE

TEREFRHAES

RZE-_NHREE BARQE A
M REAXKEPEZAEFLPHKA
BWEORNMGAEERE S OB RF
EHEIW AH94% (ZE = =4 :76%)
F24% (ZZFE - =9 :23%) - KB NRN
EEAAHERNRBEGER-Z
Y BREEAEEARER ALY
7% (ZE = =F :94%) * 5 A&
BEMNREREAHERINKESWG
RZE-_NERFEAEBAKE
HK64% (ZE =4 :52%) °

BEEAAM  R-_T_HMEREFE -
BMESEEFHEMNBEZTBEA(ER
RETHRADIBER(BESHAA
FAEARARACHITHRAL% A E)RA
SELATEFPAEERABEME

W -
Bz

NNy BREEREEAFERA
HWESHOT:

HTES

K18 S (E RRITHAH)
R

FUTES

BEELT
BAUFIITES

BEELL
(R-ZFB-_MF+ATAHEZE)

MEREE
(R=ZF-—mF+A1THEHAFT)

TRkt

BRTE

51



Kidztech Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EZEHE

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles, Mr. Yu Huang
and Mr. Gong Lan will retire by rotation at the next annual
general meeting and eligible for re-election.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Biographical Details of Directors

Brief biographical details of the Directors including the changes
in the Directors’ information if any subsequent to the interim
report are included in the biographical details as set out on
pages 37 to 40 of this annual report.

Changes in Information of the Directors

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is no
change in information on the Directors required to be disclosed
for the year ended 31 December 2024 except Ms. Huang has
been appointed as independent non-executive director of each
of Xinming China Holdings Limited (stock code: 2699) and China
Resources and Transportation Group Limited (stock code: 269)
during the period.

Directors’ services Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
and will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by the
Company or the Director or the Director has not been re-elected
as a Director or has been removed by Shareholders at any of
its general meeting or is disqualified from acting as a Director
in accordance with the Articles. Each non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Director was appointed under
a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three years unless
terminated by the Company or the Director in accordance with
the terms as set out in the letter of appointment.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has or is
proposed to have a service agreement with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than the
statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements, Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which the Director or a
connected entity of the Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted as at, or at any time during
FY2024.

Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in
Contracts of Significance

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries during FY2024.

Emoluments of the Directors and Five
Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the emoluments of Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Emolument Policy

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing
the Group’'s emolument policy and structure for making
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors, senior management
and general staff of the Group. The remunerations of the
Directors are determined by reference to the economic
situation, the prevailing market condition, the responsibilities
and duties assumed by each Director as well as their individual
performance.

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme, details of
which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this annual report.

Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of
Directors nor the controlling Shareholder nor any of their
respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and
any conflicts of interests which any such person has or may
have with the Group during FY2024.
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Non-Competition Undertaking

The Company confirms that the non-competition undertaking of
Mr. Yu Huang, Ms. Chen Cheng and Top Synergy Y&C Limited,
details of which were set out in the Prospectus, has been fully
complied and enforced during FY2024. The Board also confirms
that there are no other matters in relation to the aforesaid
undertaking which should be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and the potential investors of the Company.

Legal Proceedings and Compliance

To the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December
2024, there were no legal proceedings or claims currently
existing, pending or threatened against any member of the
Group that the Directors consider will have a material adverse
effect on the financial conditions or results of operation of the
Group.

During FY2024, the Group's business operations had complied
with applicable laws, rules and regulations in the places where
the Group operates in all material respects save for (i) failure
to make social insurance contributions in full compliance
with the Social Insurance Law of the PRC; (ii) failure to make
housing provident fund contributions in full compliance with the
Regulations on the Administration of Housing Provident Fund
of the PRC; and (iii) failure in completing the (a) environmental
impact assessment before construction; and (b) construction
of the matching environmental protection facilities and the
inspection and acceptance formalities before the operation of
a production plant. Please refer to the subparagraph headed
“Non-compliance Incidents” under the paragraph headed “Legal
Proceedings and Compliance” in the section headed “Business”
of the Prospectus.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties
that may affect the business, financial condition, results of
operations and growth prospects of the Company. However,
this list is not exhaustive as there may be other risks and
uncertainties resulting from changes in economic condition and
operating environment over time:

1.  Economic and geopolitical risk: the Sino-US trade
war, Russia-Ukraine and lIsraeli-Palestinian geopolitical
conflicts may further affect the Group’s overseas sales
business, financial conditions and results of operations;
and the continuous outbreak of the contagious COVID-19
in the PRC and worldwide may continue to have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

2. Business risk: the Group's sale of co-branded products
relies on the popularity and market acceptance of
intellectual properties used in the co-branded products,
which depends largely on the public reception on the car
models and the entertainment characters of the intellectual
properties licensors and the marketing and promotional
activities of the intellectual properties licensors. The Group
also does not maintain long term purchase contracts
with most of the Group's customers, any disruption or
termination of the business relationships with the major
customers or fluctuations in their demand for the Group's
products may have a material adverse effect on the
Group's business, results of operation, financial condition
and prospect.

3.  Compliance risk: Non-compliance with product safety
and laws and regulations may lead to financial loss and
reputational damage. Product safety is the Group’'s
number one priority. The Group has robust processes
and procedures in place to ensure compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations. Changes in related laws
and regulations may lead to increased compliance costs.

ZT-MFEHR FLEERARAQ

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExERS

TERRETRERER

LATET““%%@‘“?%W B 7% Ak
CREEEBENEEAENEZER
Eﬁiﬁiﬂ_ﬁﬁmlﬁ AT B PRI
Tim lﬁ;ﬁ?f“ﬁf’ﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ%’m
EMRAREBELERENEGIEESD
m?ﬁﬁ’r&ﬂM/\TﬁEI%

1. RBRBEREERR: PXE
%@z ﬁk%&ulﬁfmiﬁ%ﬁ)ﬂ%
RAUEGE-—SPFEATEN
iﬁl\ﬁ%%%f& B 75 MR R £
”*% ?'DA&%%iiﬁqﬂlﬂi

wwuw T%Q%@ﬂmﬁ
ERMEBR - LEXE BHBMR
ARAMBREEERTHEE -

2. ¥R AEBEEEBRAS SR
MERKBREBEAEREERTD
FANANEEENTEOREE
EmiEgESE HERKRKEE
FTHRARARENBERERE
ARRBERFEMREMENES
BE UEWMBEHEEEH MR
HIEE - ZFE@I%EEZ’SE@
REHEFRERIEESD
ﬁi%gﬁmiﬁwﬁa%q:‘%j
WIFEAEBE RN S KK
BR e H A AEBRMER K
EEBE MBERKAKBSESE
EATNNEE -

3. AREAE: TES
ERERAIESERYIEE
Eﬁi%%%i%é!%C’Eu%ii% S

4
QW

’iﬁﬁiﬁ%‘iéﬁiﬁf TEE(%
ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬂ’]?i&éﬁiiﬁ $HE§
BRARNBEAELEHAR
DN IR

55



Kidztech Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEHS

4.  Financial risk: The Group is exposed to financial risks
related to currency, pricing, credit and liquidity in the
normal course of business. For details of such financial
risks, please refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has developed a risk management and internal control
system to identify current risks and has undertaken necessary
measures to mitigate the risks identified. Details of the Group's
risk management and internal control system are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

Key Relationship with the Stakeholders

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration packages to
attract and motivate the employees, and regularly reviews the
remuneration package of the employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard. For further
details of the benefits of the employees, please refer to the
section headed “Employees and Remuneration Policies” in this
annual report.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its business partners to achieve its long-term
goals. Accordingly, the Directors and senior management have
kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared
business updates with its business partners when appropriate.
During FY2024, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and any of its business partners.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Every Director shall be entitled under the Articles to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him/her as a Director in the execution or discharge of his/
her duty. The Company has not taken out for insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The reasons for this decision is elaborated
on page 19 of the Corporate Governance Report.
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Connected and Related Party Transactions

For FY2024, there were no connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company which
require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any member of the Group had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Shares during FY2024.

Sufficiency of Public Float

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company, at least
25% of the Company's issued capital were held by public during
FY2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for FY2024 have been
audited by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (the
“McMillan Woods (Hong Kong)"), who shall retire in the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the
reappointment of McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) as the auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Corporate Governance

Details of the corporate governance of the Company are set out
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.
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Taxation Relief

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there are currently
no taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason
of holding of Shares based upon profits, income, gains or
appreciations and there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance
tax or estate duty.

Environmental Policy

The Group’'s commitment to protecting the environment is
well reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in its daily business operations. The
Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees.
The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

Details of the Group's environmental, social and governance
policies and performance during FY2024 are disclosed in the
section headed "Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
in this annual report.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in

which the Company is incorporated, which oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or in existence during FY2024.

Charitable Donations

During FY2024, no charitable and other donations was made by
the Group (FY2023: nil).
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Continuing disclosure requirement under rule
13.21 of the Listing Rules

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 23
December 2021, on 23 December 2021, the Company entered
into a loan agreement (the “"Loan Agreement”) with a licensed
money lender in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(the “Lender”) for the principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (the
“Loan”). The Loan has a term of one year from its drawdown
date subject to the terms of the Loan Agreement. To the best
of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Lender is a third party
independent of the Company and its connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules).

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Company has covenanted
that it will procure Mr. Yu Huang, a controlling shareholder of
the Company, among others, not to sell, transfer or otherwise
dispose of his equity interests in the Company and its
subsidiaries or associated companies or any part thereof or
create any encumbrance over his equity interests or any part
thereof unless with the prior written consent of the Lender. A
breach of such covenant will constitute an event of default, upon
the occurrence of which, all outstanding amounts under the
Loan Agreement shall become immediately due and payable.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
16 September 2022, the Company entered into the first
supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement with the
Lender on 16 September 2022 pursuant to which, among others.
Top Synergy Y&C Limited (“Top Synergy”), the controlling
shareholder of the Company: (i) has charged 100,000,000
Shares in favour of the Lender as security for the Loan; and
(ii) covenanted at all time directly hold and be beneficially
interested in not less than 206,746,667 Shares. The principal
of HK$30,000,000 had been drawn and shall become due and
payable on 22 December 2022.
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On 16 December 2022, the Company entered into the second
supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement with the
Lender, pursuant to which the repayment date of the Loan was
extended to 23 March 2024. On 13 October 2024, Top Synergy
further charged 24,000,000 Shares in favour of the Lender as
additional security to maintain the percentage of the pledged
shares following completion of the placing of the new Shares on
23 August 2024. In 12 June 2024, the Company further entered
into the third supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement
with the Lender, pursuant to which the parties agreed that the
total outstanding principal amount of HK$13,223,850 shall be
fully repaid by six installments on or before 31 March 2025.

As at 31 December 2024, Top Synergy Y&C Limited held
approximately 31.73% of the total issued share capital of
the Company. Top Synergy Y&C Limited was owned as to
approximately 94.79% by Mr. Yu Huang and as to approximately
5.21% by Ms. Chen Cheng, the spouse of Mr. Yu Huang,
respectively.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has repaid
HK$2,836,020 and the amount of HK$10,387,830 remained
outstanding.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
did not have other disclosure obligations under Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
Kidztech Holdings Limited
Yu Huang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Environmental, social and governance
report

The Board (the “Board”) of directors of Kidztech Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present the
environmental, social and governance ("ESG") report
(the “"Report”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Year 2024"), which aims to provide details of policies and
performance of the Group on sustainable developments to
both internal and external stakeholders.

The Report, which was prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("HKEX ESG Reporting
Guide"), highlights the environmental and social measures
and activities of the Group for the Year. For details
regarding the Group’s compliance with the requirements
for corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report.

Governance Structure

The Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board plays a key role in overseeing the ESG aspects
of the Group. The Board and management assess the
impact of ESG-related risks on operations from time to
time, and set the development direction of the Group 's
ESG strategy and formulate relevant policies to address
the risks. The Board ensures that the management has
all appropriate tools and resources to check and evaluate
the performance of the Group in different aspects such
as environment, health and safety, labor standards and
product liability in the context of environment, society and
governance.
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The Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy on material ESG-related issues

The Group conducts materiality assessment annually, to
better understand the views and expectations of different
stakeholders on ESG matters. The Group ensures that
it uses various platforms and communication channels
to reach, listen and respond to its key stakeholders.
Through comprehensive communication with stakeholders,
the Group is able to understand their expectations and
concerns. The feedback received enables the Group to
make more informed decisions and to better assess and
manage the impacts of those business decisions.

The Group has assessed the materiality of ESG issues
through the following steps: (i) the Group identifies ESG
issues; (ii) prioritizes key ESG areas with stakeholder
engagement; and (iii) checks and determines material
ESG issues based on communication outcome with
stakeholders.

These steps enhance the understanding of the importance
attached to each ESG issue by the Group’'s stakeholders
and enable the Board to plan more comprehensively for the
sustainable development.

Board’s reviews progress made against
ESG-related goals and targets

The progress of implementation and the performance of
the ESG-related goals and targets will be closely reviewed
by the Group from time to time. If the progress falls short
of expectation or the business operations change, it may
be necessary to make changes and communicate the goals
and targets with key stakeholders.

The Board has set future strategic goals to enable the
Group to develop a realistic path with the focus on
achieving its visions. The management will carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which should be
weighed against the Group’s philosophy and goals.
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Reporting Principles

This Report complies with four reporting principles outlined
in the ESG Reporting Guide, which include (i) Materiality:
The Group has identified a number of issues covering
environment, society and governance, and has invited
stakeholders to assess the importance of these issues for
the Year. For details, please refer to the section “Materiality
Matrix” in this Report; (i) Quantitative: This report details
the criteria, methodologies and sources of conversion
factors used for key performance indicators on emissions
and energy consumption; (iii) Balance: The positive and
negative impacts of the business are presented with high
transparency; and (iv) Consistency: Unless otherwise
specified, this Report adopted consistent statistical
methodologies and key performance indicators with those
in previous ESG Reports to facilitate ready comparisons.

Reporting scope

The Group is mainly engaged in manufacturing and sales
of toys. This Report will focus on disclosure of policies and
key performance indicators on four environmental aspects
and eight social aspects for the Group's production facilities
located in the People’'s Republic of China (the "PRC") and
the business in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to
collect information mainly regarding environment, society
and governance so as to disclose information in relation to
the sustainable development when applicable.

Stakeholder engagement

The Group is committed to maintaining long-term
sustainable development of its business, while improving
environmental protection and providing support to the
community where it operates. The Group also carefully
manages its business and provides customers with quality
products and services in accordance with reasonable
decision-making procedures.

B - 4@ RERERE
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The Group maintains close contact with its stakeholders
(including shareholders, government, employees,
customers, suppliers, society and the public) and strives
to hear dissenting views from stakeholders through
constructive communication and to balance the interests
between them so as to determine the long-term direction
of business development. The Board is responsible for
assessing the ESG risks of the Group, and ensuring that
the relevant risk management and internal monitoring
system operates properly and effectively.

The Group discusses with stakeholders through various
channels for their expectations and concerns, and provides
the stakeholders with the following feedback:

AEBEAEFNE(BER

BRE -BE -EF H#HER®B
HERARIRBETHE X
BRAZRUENER BHE
BHEHENTRER ¥ H

FEZENMzD  KMEER
ENEBERIAN -EFER
EFfASEENRE Hak
EaRR YHEAMEERRE
BEARBEEERREFEENR
BB -

AEBEBEZRBREETN
AR ENBEEFR BT
FOENHEBERENT:

Stakeholders Expectation and concerns Communication and responses
BHE HA S B AR R B iE B e
Shareholders ° Financial result ° Improving financial performance
° Corporate transparency through expanding production
° Sound risk control capacity and improving
production efficiency
° Daily information disclosure
° Optimization of risk
management and internal
control
& R o HIKEE s EREERNRRERSEENE
e DBEFERAE AR T R

o TEERES

Government . Compliance with laws and
regulations
o Tax payment in accordance
with laws
o Compliance with product
safety and relevant laws and
regulations
T s  ETAEML
o KIEAW
e HBITERTENMEEERZE
R

s RBEGEHE
e B{cEkEIRENMAEEE

° Operation in compliance with
the law

° Tax payment in full and on time

° Compliance with all applicable

laws and regulations

s AHKE
e RREBRMB
s BTHAERNEREZER
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Expectation and concerns

BIE - HERERERE

Communication and responses

BHE HREE B SR R BB E e
Employees ° Career development platform e Promotion mechanism
o Remuneration and benefit . Provision of attractive
° Safe working environment remuneration packages
o Provision of training to staff
and enhancing their safety
awareness
3= s BEERERTA o B A
e HMBAF o RSV F M
e LTERIERIE . EEIkTFW Mﬁﬁl§
ER e
Customers ° Customer information security e Customer privacy protection
° Customer interest protection e Marketing in compliance with
° Joint brand products the law
° Obtaining concession of
famous toys and entertainment
characters
=P s EFER%LRR e REERFPALE
e EPEHRRE s EHEHE
e WMEmEMEM® e REBEMEMARBRLAGRE
B 7T AT
Suppliers o Collaboration integrity ° Building a responsible supply
° Business ethics and chain
creditworthiness ° Performing the contract
according to law
HrEm s WMEAEIE e THEBREMHHER
e WEBEZHEFEE s KEEBTAR
The society and the public ° Environment friendliness . Measures for Eco Office
o Employment opportunities ° Provision of employment

HEkrR

. BERR
. mEse

opportunities
HERMRERE
REREMLT
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Materiality Matrix

In the Year, the Group conducted materiality assessment
on various ESG issues to identify which issues are the
most significant towards the Group’s business and attract
most concerns from the stakeholders. Such assessment is
helpful to align its business practices with the expectations
of the stakeholders. The Group has identified 21 issues,
which cover environmental, social and operating, and
invited internal and external stakeholders to assess the
materiality of the ESG issues through scoring tools and
interviews. The management of the Group has reviewed
the ranking of materiality of ESG issues, and disclosed
the results subsequently in this Report. The materiality
assessment results can rank the significance of the
opinions of the stakeholders, so that the Group can report
and act on those with a high priority.

EEMER

RAFEE  AEEHZHERE
HekErBBETEEZN
B AR AEBREXEKRE
BERENERBINEE - %
AP BB AN B R E R
RAAFHOHENHE -AKHE
BERMNNERERR a8k
EBEMZEE L BH AR EI
MM EBEBF D TR REK
AERRE HEREARZEN
EZN -AEBEERERECEHN
RE HehEndENER
HRR HERAREANRE
R - EZUHFAENEREY
FRENBRETEZEYF
EAEEATHREZNZER
FETERARRTY -
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During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of
environmental, social and operation related issues, and
assessed their importance to stakeholders and the Group
through various channels. This assessment helps to
ensure the Group’s business development is in line with
the expectations and requirements of its stakeholders.
The Group’s and its stakeholders’ matters of concern are
presented in the following materiality matrix:

B - 4@ RERERE

REAFERN  AEBH ZHER
BoHekz2ERBEZEET
fE BB TRREFMER
BROELAEBENHEEN -
ZAEAERANEEN XD
BRNUARNDENHERENX -
AEEREFHERINFER
EUNTEEEREZ7]:

Importance to the Group

HAEENEEM
Low Medium High
& B =
Importance to  High L 2 Engagement with @ Greenhouse gas
Stakeholder customers on emission
HEMGED environmental &  Customer privacy
o issues ¢  Environmental
L 2 Labor standards in impact created by
supply chain our business
¢ \Waste €  Occupational
€ Talent attraction health and safety
and retention L 2 Use of chemicals
€  Anti-corruption
€ Corporate
governance
@  Green building
certificate
= ¢ REZENEFS € BREREHEMW
% i} ® EFILE
& HESELSTHEN & EBEKOIRER
® EEY &
& WS ERBEBAL € BEREERZSE
® FHRIEER
® ES
® OEER
® HEEERE
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Importance to the Group

HEASEENEEM
Low Medium High
& h =
Medium ¢ Community ¢ Energy
investment consumption
€ Employee benefit € Inclusion and
€  Supply chain equal opportunity
management ¢ Water
€ Economic value consumption
generated
¢ Customer
satisfaction
€ Training and
development
H ® HEKE & HERERE
¢ EEREF ® HEETEHE
& HEREER ® FEK=E
® ELENKEEE
® EPWmEE
® EIkER
Low
{5

Based on the participation of the stakeholders, the Group
has identified issues with material environmental and social
impacts and matters concerned by stakeholders.
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The table underneath showed the aspects on the ESG
Guide to be assessed and those ESG issues were
determined to be material to the Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in the ESG Guide
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ESGIESIFH I NWESGH |

B - 4@ RERERE

TRBNESGHI R ARFFME
BT B%FESGHEH A
EEMEREKN -

Material ESG issues for the Group
AEBEWNWE XESGHE &

(A)
(A)
Al

Al

A2
A2
A3
A3
A4
A4
(B)
(B)
B1

B1

B2
B2
B3
B3
B4
B4
B5
B5
B6
B6
B7

B7
B8

B8

Environmental

RIR

Emissions

iz 3¢

Use of Resources
&IREH

Environment and Natural Resources
BRERKAER

Climate Change

RIx &1k

Social

v

Employment and Labour Practices
RERSTIER

Health and Safety
EREE 2
Development and Training
BRRE

Labour Standards
LTIz

Supply Chain Management
e E e

Product Responsibility
EmAE

Anti-corruption

RES
Community Investment

HERE

Emission from town gas, electricity or vehicle
WERE  BEHREWHOHENR
Use of energy and paper

BE TR I A ok B {2 R

Labour practices

BIER

Workplace health and safety

TiEMBEMNERELR 2

Employee development and training

EEZERRE

Anti-child and forced labour

RETIR@HIET

Supply chain management

HEEER

Product responsibility

EmEE

Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money
laundering

RES BERFRRERE

Community programs, employee volunteering and
donation

HERFE - BIXEREDHNIBE
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Environmental

The Group is committed to minimizing its environmental
impact and complying with the evolving laws and
regulations on environmental protection of the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group approaches its environmental
management in a systematic and comprehensive manner
to review and update its environmental policies periodically,
to comply with the latest requirements of the applicable
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group.

The Group has developed procedures for the management
of environmental health and safety and established a
healthy and safe working environment, to minimize the
security risks at work and the environmental impact of
production activities. Every year, the Group conducts water
quality testing and air quality testing for employees in the
production and living areas of the plant.

Fully aware of the importance of environmental protection,
the Group has adopted regular measures to manage
emissions and wastes.

A1.1.Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel

70

Consumption

The Group's exhaust gas emissions are mainly from the
combustion of gasoline by motor vehicles. The exhaust
gases emitted from the combustion of relevant fossil fuels
mainly include nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,)
and particulate matters (PM).

a) Since the Company did not have town fuel and
town gas consumption during the Year, therefore
no emissions data from gaseous fuel consumption
applied.

BE

AEBEBE2NMOEHIR

MEE TEFHERETELS
Bk ERFRIEZERIER -

SEXRRAGEZENRREE

TE S ERREBRRBIEB
BMAMEH  UFEaHAEH
BEARENERZIRLZER
ZEAER -

AEBECHTEREEELEE
BREF 2y—EHARREERLD
BWIIERIE - BRI 2 TIE
FEEMNSEL2EBRUALRE
LERBEEGRDHHRBENTE -
AEEEFTHEHBREAEK
AER IR B T8k KT K
BAREREHEESHNEREE
HETAE -

AEBRAIDAMARRRENE
EM YEEHERIRER
EEFBMMAMERY -

SRERECERNFERBE

AEEEAHREEELAS
B4R 298 0 S o 4R B AL 7 O R R
BB EEREAL
{L#INO) - T &l (SO R BB
L (PM) -

a) HRARANREAFEILE
WHEMH R MR ERE - E
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b) the Company owned some motor vehicles during the
Year, the emissions data from the vehicles is set out

B - 4@ RERERE

b) ARRANRAFEHEBET

e Tyt
BEIMT

below:
Key performance indicator (“KPI1")
BARENEE(EREREEZD
2024 Unit %

2024%F Efy %
NO, 85.9 Kg 90.9%
AEA N T
SO, 01 Kg 0.1%
waEtm F
PM 8.5 Kg 9.0%
4 ) 0
Total 945 Kg 100%
HmE F
Looking forward the Group will continue to improve BERK ANEEBBHEEEL
the efficiency of usage of vehicles by better planning HITHGHRSE  ReasE@wER
of the travelling routes, so as to better control its air MR RmE B E ER
emissions. PER o

A1.2.Greenhouse Gas Emission M2 BERBHER

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions are mainly from
the combustion of gasoline by motor vehicles and the use
of electricity. The emissions of greenhouse gases include
direct and indirect emissions.

SEEAMNERERBIERT
KEE@mmEAMERE-
BERBEREBEEERFREK
B HEDR -

ZN
Z
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The following table sets out the key performance indicators
of the Group’s greenhouse gases for the Year:

ll::3

REAFE AEBREREH
RERERHIN TR

&

KPI
BRENIER
2024 Unit %

2024 By %
Scope 1
gE—
Direct Emission 14.0 tonnes 3.2%
HEVN Mg
Scope 2
HE—
Indirect Emission 6671 tonnes 96.8%
i 2 BE W A
Scope 3
gE=
Other indirect Emission — tonnes —
H A i # HE AR A
Total 681.1 tonnes 100%
o I

Scope 1. Direct emissions of greenhouse gases from
the business owned or controlled by the Group
including emissions of greenhouse gases from
the use of motor vehicles by the Company.

Scope 2: Indirect emissions of greenhouse gases from
electricity purchased and gas consumed.

During the Year, there was 681.1 (2023: 462.8) tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases (mainly the
usage of vehicles for transportation of petrol and gasoline)
emitted from the Group’s operation.

BE—: RAAKEMERXIET
HIMEBERELEDN
BERBHER 21
KBEARAERTE

BE R PRI

Y /m

>

HE-: BEBHARUEKRE
MEELMHAEAE
HE o

RAEAFE AEENKE T
HE 7681118 (20234 : 462.818)
TRLEBREENREREB(EE
RFEREHER O MR TH) -



The Group's long term plan is to, by the Year 2026, reduce
the intensity of the exhaust gas emission and greenhouse
gas emissions by 5% based on the benchmark of the Year

—TMFR
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AEEMH KB ZEK2026%F
E BT IR #E20214F 5 H) B £ 5 BE
REBMEBEREHREZED

2021. Al 5% o
Benchmark

Environmental KPIs Emission reduction target target on 2021 Status

REBMBENER BB R 2021F EERE AMRE

Scope 1

& E—

Direct Emission 5% reduction by Year 2026 70.6 tonnes In progress

BN 7 20264F [ BT 5% 70.6WF 17 H

Scope 2

gE=

Indirect Emission 5% reduction by Year 2026 745.3 tonnes In progress

il £ BE 7K 2026 Z Bl A £ 5% 745.3WF #E 1T H

Scope 3

gE=

Other indirect Emission 5% reduction by Year 2026 — In progress

H [ 5 B W 2026 % £ B R 2 5% — #EATH

Total Greenhouse Gas 5% reduction by Year 2026 815.9 tonnes In progress
Emission

BEREBHMNES 722026 £ £ 5l 5% 815.9Wf 17

73



Kidztech Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - @ RERHE

A3,

and

A4,

74

Hazardous Waste and Non-hazardous Waste A3, EEBREYREZTEEY
R
A14.
Waste Management BEYER
Hazardous waste is generated in toy manufacturing. AEEEAYEREPEL
The hazardous waste mainly includes pollutants such as BEEZEY FEBEHAL
hydrocarbons (CxHx). The following table sets out the key EWMCxH)FFL Y - K& B
performance indicators of hazardous wastes of the Group REAFEEEANBEEREEDHD
for the Year: A IEZEHINT R :
KPI
BMEEANREE
2024 Unit %
2024F Efy %
Hazardous Waste 40.0 kg 100.0%
BEBEEY Fr
Non-hazardous Waste — kg 0%
EEREEY Fr
Total 40.0 kg 100%
e T

The Group has specific measures for the discharge of
hazardous waste. For instance, paint suppliers must
comply with (i) regulations regarding Polycyclic Aromatic
Hydrocarbons (PAHs) and other substances in paint and
(i) Toy Paint Regulations issued by the United States
and European countries. Suppliers must also perform
pre-production inspections for hazardous substances
before beginning mass production. All post-production
volatilization resulting from paint spraying and the pad
printing process must be filtered before being discharged
into the environment, thus minimizing the potential
risk to human health. All wastewater must be filtered
and converted for reuse. Hazardous pollutants are only
discharged after purification and filtration, conforming
to national regulations on the discharge of atmospheric
pollutants.

EEHTBEEEEYYN
W R ERAE

WEBEZRRFMSZRS
k“‘ ﬂﬁf@%gﬁ’]i‘ﬁ& (ii)
%I BN B R A8 M B It AR
JEHR e { JER AR AL 2

TEZRYBEENEETLEE
AIRE HEREREHENT
BolENBLEEREBERAA
EHBEREPZAMETER

fem&ER MM B ARRENERE

B\ B o BT RE K78 #E 17 18 )8 M
BRABHER FF5H
)& T AEFAE AB IR BER

THEAEBEBRBEBARKSEYHE
M EI R E ©
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B - 4@ RERERE

AREIHERAEENE K&
BEEARBEFEMKE K
EEMATFHEBEZ 2 N2026F
ERIBERNT:

To better manage the Group’'s major issues and their
performance on environmental aspects, the Group
proposes the following five-year target on waste reduction
by the Year 2026:

Benchmark
target on 2021 Status
2021FEEBHE K&

Environmental KPIs

REHBERER

Waste reduction target

B R

Hazardous Waste

BEBREY

5% reduction by Year 2026
720264 & Bl A 5%

Non-hazardous Waste
BEREY

5% reduction by Year 2026
72026 £ BiR 2 5%

The Group will continue to assess, record and disclose
its greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental
data annually, and evaluate the effectiveness of existing
measures to further draw targets and work up plans for
greenhouse gas and hazardous waste reduction. During the
year, the Group have achieved the target of Year 2026.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations including the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’'s Republic of
China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People's Republic of China, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution, and Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) relating to its air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharging into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
during the Year. In addition, the Group did not receive any
material fines or sanctions for non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the Year.

1,431kg In progress
1,431F 55 # 47

0.005kg In progress
0.0056F % #Ef7H

AEBBBEFNG THRE
BEEFRERBHERLEMIER
BHE O UYHERBEHEREOK
Mo AE—FHIERBEAER
BRRIBAEEREMHBER
THFE  -REAFE A&
EEH2026FEHEF ©

B Y A

RARFEE  NEBEASHAEBME
MEBERZERLREEREH
Mo RKR e BES A RE
EREEERYPNELETEE
BMEZAEZRTBETAEKRE
RER BRE(PEARAME
REREER) (PEARHKM
BARRIZREAE) (REA
RAMBE KT REIAZE) "=
RS R E BEPID(E B IEH B
BNE) » Wi RAFEARKHE
YEAREBTERARERM
EBXEMERT KA E -
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A2.1.Use of resource

76

The Group is committed to minimizing the impact of its
manufacturing process on the environment to conserve the
environment. The Group strives to improve the efficient use
of natural resources, such as minimizing waste/emissions
and implementing a recycling program. Measures are
detailed as follows:

° Switch off lights and turn off unnecessary
energy-consuming devices when they are not in use;

o Promote environmental protection such as saving
water and electricity by slogan or poster in office;

o Encourage printing or photocopying on both sides of
paper, where applicable;

° Regular maintenance of vehicles to ensure good
condition of such vehicles for operational efficiency;

° Adopt the use of electric cars; and

o Focus on quality management so as to reduce
wastage and scrap for less pollution resulted.

A2.1. 5 R A

AEEBEREBRREREN
YEHER) T-BEHANR
RERE AKEEBHIRSX
RERNERARE INEE
BWMAOBEEY, PR E LK
e HRARERNT:

s HETERE G BHEER
THBEHFERERME

e TEERR HPIUOERIE
KA EEEHNKENIRE
HE®:
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e TEHREEW ERE®R
RRAREF - URBETH
YR B

=

s FEREHHE: R
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The following table sets out the key performance indicators
for the Group's use of resources in the Year:

B - 4@ RERERE

RAFE RNEEERERD
RRBEEMETEHINTL:

KPI
BRENIER
% increase/
2024 2023 Unit (decrease)
#m,
20244 2023F E{u (R B DL
Electricity consumed 797275 535,672 MWh 49%
BHE JK R B
Gasoline and petrol consumed 60,476 62,976 MWh (4%)
AHEEE KB
Total energy consumed 857,751 598,549 MWh 43%
BEREMREE K F B
Water consumed 10,827 11,511  tonnes (6%)
KIEE 148
KPI (intensity)
BRENER(BE)
2024 2023 Unit
20244 2023F Efy
Total energy consumption intensity 3.92 4.55 MWh/thousand of revenue
ERERETERS K EEFxilke=s
Water consumption intensity 0.05 0.09 Tonnes/thousand of revenue

FEKRRE

L P &
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A3.
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To better manage the Group’'s major issues and their
performance on environmental aspects, the Group
proposes the following five-year target on savings by the
Year 2026:

REFHEEAEENE KFE
BREAERRBETENRE K
& B 7020265 E AT B B HI 66
MBIRWT:

Benchmark
Environmental KPIs Emission reduction target target on 2021 Status
REBMBENER BB R 2021F EERE AMRE
Energy consumption 5% reduction by Year 2026 6.25 Mwh/ In progress
intensity thousand of revenue
REREREE #2026 F [E AR 2 5% 625JEE51/ #ATH
T Tl &=

Water consumption
intensity

FEKEE

5% reduction by Year 2026

2026 F E AR 5%

The Group has taken several measures to increase resource
efficiency. For instance, the Group installed LED lights
to increase illumination more efficiently in the production
line area. Also, the Group has utilized hot runner systems
within injection molding machines to reduce waste.

The Group obtained suitable water sources in compliance
with the Regulations on the Administration of the License
for Water Drawing and the Levy of Water Resource Fees
of the PRC (2017 Revision) in the Year. In the Year, there
was no issue in sourcing water that was fit for purpose. All
water supplies were acquired from public water pipes.

Besides, the management of the Group believed that the
use of packaging materials is immaterial.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group conducts its business operations in compliance
with the relevant provisions of the Catalog of Classified
Management of Pollutant Discharge Permits for Stationary
Pollution Sources and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, and appropriately treats the
generated emissions and pollutants. All emissions and
pollutants are tested and recorded in a detailed manner,
and meet the requirements of national environmental
protection regulations and emission standards without
adversely affecting the environment and natural resources.

0.16 Mwh/ In progress

A3.

thousand of revenue
0. 16JUiB¢/
F o =
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A4. Climate change

The continuous emission of greenhouse gas leads to
climate change. In response to climate change, the Group
reference the Financial Stability Board’'s Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework to
assess climate-related risks. There are two main types of
risks, which are: (i) physical risks associated with climate
change impacts; and (ii) transition risks associated with
low-carbon economy.

The climate-related risks identified by the Group are mainly
structural damage to premises of the Group and where the
Group's construction and operating projects are held due to
the increase in frequency of extreme weather events and
flooding due to changes in rainfall patterns. Such climate
change may affect labor management and planning, and
also increase the risk of work-related injuries for the
employees. In addition, there is a risk that the Group’s
infrastructure and machines may be damaged due to
climate change, and facilities damage will affect operations
and lead to an increase in operation costs.

In response to the above climate-related risks, the
Group has purchased employee injury insurances for
all employees. Such insurances cover the expenditure
coverage for employees’ injuries due to weather conditions.
The Group has also purchased relevant property insurance
for all construction projects, operating projects and the
Group's key fixed assets to cover property losses due to
weather conditions and reduce maintenance costs that may
be required.
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Social

The Group highly values its employees who have dedicated
themselves to the business of the Group. As a responsible
corporation, the Group commits itself to providing a decent
and healthy workplace to its employees. The Group has
formulated comprehensive employment policies. The
Group has implemented the employment principles of
“selecting people for jobs, matching people with positions,
and conducting recruitment openly and fairly”.

Employment and Labour Practices
Employee Benefits

The Group appreciates the hard work and contributions
of each employee. A comprehensive employee benefits
package is therefore in return to offer to its dedicated and
talented staff. The employee benefits are compensated
fairly according to their performance, with reference to the
market practice.

The Group performs annual staff performance appraisal
to assess the performance of employees for the year-end
bonus determination. In this regard, a transparent
mechanism is conducted by taking into account various
factors, including but not limited to the employees’
attendance performance, capability, attitude, and
contributions to the Group. With reference to appraisal on
the employees, staff promotion and salary increment are
rewarded to the contributing and improving employees.

In addition, the Group contributes to the employees’
social insurance and housing funds with reference to the
Labor Law of the PRC for its employees. Besides, high
temperature subsidy is offered for the front-line employees
of gas refuelling stations on several months within summer
season annually.
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Staff Composition

As at 31 December 2024, the Reporting Entities employed
a total of 35 (2023: 8) staff.

a)

b)

B - 4@ RERERE

BITHK

N20245F12831H > | & 5 82
HAEIBHZ(2023F :8K)E T -

Employees’ Employment Type Distribution a ESEEBELS M
2024 2023

20245 2023%F
By employment type Male Female Male Female
RERERE S B Z B Z
Part-time employment 0% 0% 0% 0%
Full-time employment 54% 46% 62% 38%
28
Total 54% 46% 62% 38%
# 5T
Employees’ Age and Gender Distribution b) EEFERIEF M

2024 2023

2024 20234
Age Group Male Female Male Female
F iR 48 Bl E) eg B g
0-30 17 % 6% 0% 13%
0Z305%
31-50 31% 31% 49% 25%
31Z505%
51-60 6% 9% 13% 0%
51ZE605%
=61/>61 0% 0% 0% 0%
615% 3k A |+
Total 54% 46% 62 % 38%
At

81



Kidztech Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI - @ RERHE

82

c) Employees’ Geographical Distribution

¢ ESMES M

Location 2024 2023
ih 2h 2024%F 2023%F
Hong Kong 17% 0%
BE

Mainland China 83% 100%
R A b

Total 100% 100%
# st

In the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
violations of the relevant laws and regulations relating to
the Group’s compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare. The Group strictly complied with local laws
and regulations relating to employment, such as the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), the Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China, and the Production Safety Law of the People's
Republic of China. In addition, there were no material fines
or sanctions for non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations in the Year.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group treats employees’ safety and their working
environment with the highest priority. In order to ensure
the implementation of safety measures and improve
employees’ safety awareness, a production safety system
has been developed to provide education and establish
assessments for employees in different departments,
especially focusing on machine operation for employees
from the production department. Supervisors must strictly
follow the operating procedures to prevent accidents and
ensure the safety of workers.

The Group follows fire protection policies, regulations and
technical specifications. According to the provisions of the
Fire Control Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Regulations on the Administration of Fire Control Safety of
the Group, we have established a specialized fire protection
team to develop and implement the Group's fire safety
system. The Group has also set up an emergency response
team, equipped with special fire alarm devices and
firefighting apparatuses, and arranged special personnel
for regular inspections and maintenance. In addition, the
Group regularly organizes fire drills to enhance employees’
awareness of fire prevention and ensure a safe working
environment.
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In the Year, the number and rate of work-related fatalities
and the number of work days lost due to work-related
injuries are as follows:

Health and Safety

RAFE BEITHHAZR
HERAIGHEEXIERHN
T

2024 2023 2022
2024

2023 20225

BREHEZR

Number of work-related fatalities
TTHHAH

Lost days due to work injury
EIGHEELXIERH

The Group believes that the health and safety of its
employees are of paramount importance. The Group
believes that all incidents are preventable and takes
a proactive approach through risk identification and
mitigation. The Group has formulated policies on
production, environment and employees’ health, outlining a
series of responsibilities and safety measures, including fire
safety systems, electrical and mechanical safety systems,
industrial hygiene management systems and work injury
accident investigation systems to ensure the highest safety
and health standards at the Group, so as to provide a safe
workplace for all employees.

In the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
violations of the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the provision of a safe working
environment and the protection of employees from
occupational hazards. The Group strictly complied with
local laws and regulations on health and safety, such as the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Law of the People's
Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment
Occupational Diseases. In addition, there were no material
fines or sanctions for non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the Year.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group believes that training and education are vital
for utilizing human resources and boosting morale among
the workforce to raise productivity and product quality.
The human resources department manages the training
management system and coordinates with responsible
departments to organize various training events. In the
Year, the Group held five training sessions with a total
training duration of 110 hours. Trainings covered the
employees’ codes of conduct, fire drills, induction training,
chemical safety, hazardous waste treatment and machine
operation, etc. Feedback was collected to better help

B - 4@ RERERE

B3. R K&IEH

AEBEREREIRBEHNA
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employees improve necessary skills.

2024
20244
Male Female Total
B zZ 5
Top management 20 6 26
mRERE
Middle management 16 8 24
PREEE
Front-line staff 30 30 60
HIAR B8 T
Total training hours 66 44 110
4815 ) I B
Average training hours 3.47 2.75 3.14
19 15 I B 8L
% of employee training 2024
EEZIED L 2024F
Male Female Total
B Z % BT
Top management 18% 5% 23%
BRERE
Middle management 15% 7% 22%
TRERE
Front-line staff 27% 28% 55%
R4 B T
Total training hours 60% 40% 100%

#8355 )| B B
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The recruitment process of the Group is subject to a
stringent internal review process that includes verifying the
personal information of applicants. For instance, the human
resources department collects proof of identification
from candidates to ensure that their age fulfills legal
requirement.

The Group respects and complies with international human
rights principles, such as the United Nations’ Universal
Declaration of Human Rights and the convention of the
International Labor Organization (ILO). The Group also
complies with the Regulations on Prohibition of Child Labor
and will not hire minorities who are under 16 years old.
The Group has developed policies against using child labor
and has zero tolerance for all forms of forced, bonded, or
imprisoned labor in our own operations and in our supply
chain. In case child labor and forced labor are found, the
Group will terminate the labor contract with them as soon
as possible and hold the responsible persons accountable.

In the Year, all employees were over the age of 18
and employed in accordance with the provisions of all
applicable laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. The Group was not aware of any material violation
of the relevant laws and regulations on prohibiting the
employment of child labor or forced labor. The Group
strictly complied with local laws and regulations relating
to labor standards, such as the Labor Law of the People's
Republic of China and the Regulations on Prohibition of
Child Labor. In addition, the Group did not receive any
material fines or sanctions for non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the Year.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has the greatest respect for the laws and
regulations that govern its business and always adheres to
international best practices and conducts fair and unbiased
procurement processes when dealing with suppliers.

The Group has set out clear requirements on selection
and management of suppliers to ensure standardized
management and proper selection of and corporation with
suppliers. In selecting suppliers, the Group will take the
following into consideration: (i) operating license granted
by and registration with the Industry and Commerce
Bureau; (ii) plant size, production capacity and technology
capabilities; (iii) stable quality of production; and (iv)
integrity and reasonableness of prices.

B4. T %8|

AEEREREREEBNA
MEERF BEXERF
B EAEF - Bl A D EIRE
SUWELBENTOENA
REFREIEZEEL -

%

AEEESEVERERAZR
8] S BEKERARES)
FBEBRSETHBERGN AEH
NEFCELEERETHRE)
TEEARMIGEAIRKEA o
AEECDHERRERET
YEHBESEERTREREDH
BREAMBRG  HEXEEY
TRHRZEFREE WEREE
ThRAHSTHNER A&E
Hef—BREEBREHE
Al - YHEEAEBREE -

RAEE - A REEHF WS
o URBRTBEREFEMEE
RAREBRBERERM A&
BUYTHMEEEELERET
BB T 2EREREEMR L
EEMERERBR -AEHE
BB ETELETERNARNM
TERER  WmM(PEARKM
BESHEIRKELERETR
E)e W RAFEARAEEY
BERARETHEBEREZRME
XEMERTIRKEE -

B5. ftE@EE

AEERTEEEEBN AR
AR R R E RS
i <F B BR & = MOE R IR B R
TRHHEBRE

AEBEH THREAEEMHE
FHHHEBEEXR BERAGSEE
MBEZEHEREREEREESE -
EmEHEE AEEe =
FMTI%"Iﬁ%ﬁEM@

& ﬂ]ﬁ#i@m )ﬁ
%ﬁﬁ E B &&m (iii)
BEENEEE S &wﬂh
EREEN -



ZT-MFEHR FLEERARAQ

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The suppliers are required to provide information on
the scale of their factories, their production capacity,
quality issues and technology capabilities in the “supplier
questionnaire” prepared by the procurement department
for preliminary screening. Then the Group would establish
a specialized file to record basic information for the
suppliers who meet the requirements, conduct regular
quality inspections and maintain long-term cooperation.
In addition, the Group has worked out stringent quality
control measures to ensure that the production quality
meets customer and regulatory requirements. Quality
control managers conduct detailed quality inspections
on samples provided by suppliers from time to time,
to avoid operational risks caused by quality problems.
Further, the Group will regularly evaluate the performance
indicators of suppliers, such as the product qualified rate
and the punctual shipment, and conduct investigations on
compliance with the legal provisions on avoiding child and
forced labor.

The following table sets out the number of suppliers by
region as at 31 December 2024
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In the Year, the Group complied with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to product liability and no
products sold by our Group were recalled for safety or
health reasons, nor were there any complaints regarding
product or service quality issues. Products were consistent
with the requirements of the GB/T 19001-2016 quality
management system.

The Group has formulated a quality manual according to the
GB/T 19000-2016 quality management system to ensure
that it provides all customers with high-quality products
and services. The Group’s product design, production and
customer service must be carried out in strict accordance
with the quality manual. The Group has also formulated a
series of procedures and operational instructions to ensure
that employees of relevant departments observe regulatory
measures. Meanwhile, the Group has full control of its
outsourced production based on the quality manual.

In addition, the Group’s management team reviews the
quality manual annually to ensure that it is updated in
accordance with changes of operating conditions and
international standards. The Group attaches appropriate
product safety warnings to its products in conspicuous
places and on the packages, to see that the products
manufactured meet safety standards.

The Group's quality control personnel follow strict quality
assurance processes at all stages of production, from
design, raw materials and manufacturing to packaging
and storage. The Group has utilized continuous quality
assurance, planning control, improvement and other
workable plans throughout all stages of production.
More specifically, the Group places more emphasis
on quality control at earlier stages of production to
discover and resolve quality issues early on. For raw
materials, semi-finished and finished products provided by
subcontractors, random inspections and tests are carried
out by inhouse laboratories. Defective products are stored
separately and sent to the production line or subcontractors
for rework.
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The Group has both external and internal complaint
reporting systems in place. For external complaint
reporting, the Group accepts complaints online or via
other telecommunication channels, such as e-mails
and telephone. For internal complaint reporting, the
employee manual specifies the reporting mechanism and
punishments for violations. Once an internal complaint
is received, the administrative department will carry
out on-site investigation(s), collect evidence, conduct
interviews with witnesses and take necessary disciplinary
actions.

The Group highly values information security and protection
of customer privacy and strictly complies with relevant
national and local laws and regulations. Employees must
comply with all internal guidelines regarding the collection,
processing, transfer, retention and disposal of customers’
personal information in order to safeguard information
security.

The Group has established a detailed intellectual property
management system in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. The system is composed of four
major aspects, namely (i) guidelines; (ii) institutions
and responsibilities; (iii) policies; and (iv) rewards and
punishments.

The Group was not aware of any material violations of
the relevant laws and regulations on product health and
safety, advertising, labeling, right to privacy and remedy
in the Year. The Group strictly complied with local laws
and regulations relating to product liability, such as the
Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Patent Law of the People’'s Republic of China,
the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People's Republic of
China. In addition, the Group did not receive any material
fines or sanctions in the Year.
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Anti-corruption

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is prohibited. The
Group’s anti-corruption policies set out the standards of
conduct to which all employees are required to adhere
to promote integrity in the workplace. All employees are
prohibited from offering or accepting money or anything of
value by using work as an excuse or any authority granted
by the Group.

In the Year, the Group provided internal training on
anti-corruption topics to its directors and employees
with reference to the anti-corruption resource website,
to further their understanding of the importance of
anti-corruption and the legal and regulatory provisions.

The Group was not aware of any material violations of the
relevant laws and regulations on prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering in the Year. The
Group strictly complied with the local laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, the Criminal Law of the People's
Republic of China and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People's Republic of China. In addition, the Group did
not receive any material fines or sanctions in the Year.

During the Year, the Group has provided 1 hour of
anti-corruption training to its staff. Also, there was no
concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

The Group has mapped out policies relating to community
investment, financial contributions and donations. The
Group supports projects and plans that meet local
community demands, while aiming to align with the local
culture, heritage and morals.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

To the Shareholders of Kidztech Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kidztech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
100 to 195, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which mentions that the Group incurred a loss
for the year of approximately RMB61,083,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and, as at 31 December 2024, the
Group had cash and bank balances amounted to approximately
RMB10,705,000 while its current bank and other borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB125,762,000. These events or
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Impairment assessment on trade receivables; and

2. Impairment assessment on non-financial assets.

(i)  Impairment assessment on trade receivables

Refer to Notes 3, 4(ii)(c), b(c) and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for
impairment by estimation of the expected credit losses
("ECL") under requirements of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the
carrying amount of trade receivables of approximately
RMB301,262,000 as at 31 December 2024 is material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group's impairment test involves application of
management’s judgements and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over credit
control, debt collection and estimation of the ECL;

— assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
model by examining the model inputs used by
management to form such estimates, including testing
the accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and
assumptions used in each of the economic scenarios
and their probability weightings and assessing
whether there was an indication of management bias
when recognising allowance to ECL;

— engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review
the appropriateness of the calculation of the ECL,
the accuracy of the calculations in the model and the
market data being adopted on a sample basis;

&

2 R
o

—_

N

(i)

-

o

—
=
—m

B EARRBRMOEXH
RARUAAEEMBHRERROE
REENER - LEFRIIN
B ERGAMBBERELA
HRriE ZMTeHE SR
BB R - IR AR g
EEB:

B % AR

i
e
i
i)

B 5 R KB E R &
FeMEERMEFG
B 5 W IR R E R (h

%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%%&4m

c) }19 -
EEECREESUBHREE
RISk 2@ T AMTEMar B
EEERE(AHEEEZR]D A
AESEUWRBRESRE - §
BREIREERMOBTER
BEA BERAR-_Z-_NFE+=
A=+ —H0E S EWAKERE
B 4 A K #301,262,0007T &
GEMBREAMEBEE - Iit
v BEBMREINRSR
& IR B A H T Rt e
B EARRFBEE(EPaE)
T % %18
— TFEEEEH - WEER
LEHEEER GRS
BAIEHNORET B
R (SR

— FEREEEEANIEL
HE A E XA B
FE EEEEHEES
EERXMWAEN g0 g
AR BEENHENE
mETEBEEEBEEXRRE
BREEBEAMEERIES
KEBETHANBRRE R
HE R BETESAE
FPAEREEDRRBRE
EERERESREEESRE
BERTEAERE

— %%*%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ
M ESEEREE:
B & m@ @@¢m+
&m%@ft&%m %530
B

93



Kidztech Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A RE

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

(i) Impairment assessment on trade receivables
(Continued)

— checking subsequent settlements after the year end

from the customers; and

— evaluating the adequacy of disclosures in respect
of the impairment on the consolidated financial

statements.

(i) Impairment assessment of non-financial assets

Refer to Notes 3, 4(ii)(b), 15 and 16 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The Group performed impairment review and impairment
test on the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in accordance with
Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 /mpairment of Assets.
This impairment test is significant to our audit because
the aggregated carrying amount of these non-financial
assets amounted to approximately RMB168,741,000 as at
31 December 2024, which is material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of management’s judgements and

estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Evaluating the management assessment on
identification of indicators of possible impairment in

these non-financial assets;

— assessing the appropriateness of management’s
assessment on identification and allocation of assets

to different cash-generating units (“CGU");

— discussing with the management of the Group
regarding the reasonableness of the valuation

methodology being adopted;

— discussing with the management of the Group the
assumptions and inputs used in determining the
recoverable amounts of the CGU and challenging the
reasonableness and relevance of key assumptions and
inputs based on our knowledge of the business and

industry;

94

B FTEE (&)

(i)

(if)

B RW KR ER & (&)

FEemEERMEN G

2 B4R 6 W1 & K S - 4ii)
16116 °

SEEREBEEBSFER
%ﬁééﬁﬁg%% % &
RELAFTHEEERAMEE
MﬁMT&MEMﬁoﬁF
BARAEERMOEFTEEE
K - REAR-_Z-_WNW&E+_-A
T HNZEHFEREER
M 458 4 A R ¥168,741,0007T
DEREY R REAMEBEE -
o B E B AR E RS S
RERERREMNHE R -

BAMBARFEE(EHEH)
oA

ﬁm%%

— HEEREUBAIRSHE
S B4 B AL B IR
A

— EWE%@%TEEE&%%U&

THRETRARSELEM

(fﬁﬁéi E i ]) /9 7T 1l
BB E T

— B SEBEEEEWMA
RMWBEITENGIEN:

— B EEEEEENRE
EREELEEMHAIKE
TR EANRRZ kB A
B UYREBEHRMAERE
BRITEORAM  HE2
BE;ABAHEBENGEMK
KA MR HE AR



—EoNER FLEZRERATF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

(i) Impairment assessment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

— engaging a valuation specialist to assist us in
reviewing the appropriateness of the valuation
approach and methodology, the accuracy of the
calculations in the valuation model and the market
data used on a sample basis; and

— evaluating the adequacy of disclosures in respect
of the impairment on the consolidated financial
statements.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors of the Company in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company's
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats of related safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chi Kong
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number: P07348

24/F, Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REBESERHAMEZERE X

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-N&E+-A=+—HLLFE

2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR TR ARET T
Revenue g 6 218,773 131,409
Cost of sales 8 & P AR (200,440) (116,383)
Gross profit EF 18,333 15,026
Other income and other gains/ HEug A R Hap gk~
(losses), net (B )% 7 (2,507) (9,318)
Selling expenses HERX (7) (1,619)
Administrative expenses TR (33,609) (35,090)
Net impairment losses on trade and & 5 & £ b fE Ug 5% 18 B (E
other receivables BB FE (31,403) (40,736)
Loss from operations BEBIE (49,193) (71,737)
Finance costs A& B 10 (11,606) (19,621)
Loss before tax BB A B (60,799) (91,358)
Income tax expenses Fr5 %M = 1 (284) (6,936)
Loss for the year FREE 9 (61,083) (98,294)
Other comprehensive income for £ H {th 2 mE Uk &5
the year
Item that may be reclassified R EF L Em
subsequently to profit or loss: I H
Exchange differences on translating 2 & /8 I & & ¥ 75 19
foreign operations E W =58 4,046 4,014
Total comprehensive loss for FRAEZEEEAEH
the year (57,037) (94,280)
Loss for the year attributable to: AR EHEEFRNEIE:
— owners of the Company - WNEIE =N (61,063) (97,.994)
— non-controlling interests — JEPERE & (20) (300)
(61,083) (98,294)
Total comprehensive loss for the NTEFEGHEFRAEZAE
year attributable to: B8 AR
— owners of the Company - WNEIE =N (57,017) (93,978)
— non-controlling interests — JEPERE & (20) (302)
(57,037) (94,280)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted EARAREE
(RMB cents) (AR¥5) 14 (9.8) (16.8)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR &

As at 31 December 2024
RZZ-_ME+-A=+—H

2024 2023
ZTE-ImEF T =F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BT 5 AR TR AREBT T
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- - MERZE 15 159,237 141,596
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 9,504 26,138
Intangible assets mEEE 17 - 73
Prepayments SEENE QL 20 9,739 14,091
178,480 181,898
Current assets REEE
Inventories 5E 18 19,291 24,545
Trade receivables 2 5 WK IA 19 301,262 247,366
Prepayments, deposits and other FERZIE - Rek
receivables H fth j& Y k18 20 82,553 137,654
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 21 10,705 48,899
413,811 458,464
Current liabilities TEBE
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H At JE I R IB 22 139,981 136,731
Amount due to a related company FE 1 — ) B Bt & R SR IB 23 962 962
Contract liabilities aEHaE 24 1,091 890
License fee payable ERNEESR 25 1,867 1,867
Bank and other borrowings RAIT R E M 1E K 26 125,762 143,744
Lease liabilities HEARE 27 - 565
Current income tax liabilities BENEAFT S B E 18,974 18,682
288,637 303,441
Net current assets RBEEFRE 125,174 155,023
Total assets less current liabilities BEEZBARMABDEES 303,654 336,921
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e MR AR R &

As at 31 December 2024
RZZ-_ME+-A=+—H

2024 2023
—ENEF T =F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BT 5 AR®B TR AREFT
Non-current liabilities kFrBERE
Convertible bonds A iR B 5 28 12,908 —
Debentures E% 29 4,870 —
Deferred revenue 5 iE UR Z 30 - 13
17,778 13
NET ASSETS EERE 285,876 336,908
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital [N 31 562 562
Reserves i 32(a) 285,636 336,648
Equity attributable to owners of the AN & # A A FE 15 #E 25
Company 286,198 337210
Non-controlling interests IE 12 % A 2 (322) (302)
TOTAL EQUITY R 285,876 336,908

FI100R196BE AT ERER-Z
“THE=A=+—HEEETeHEK
HETE THTIWNEERRES

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 195 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
31 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

EEE:
Yu Huang Zhu Qiang
RE K&
Director Director
) EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z_NF+_A=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRAREAR
Foreign Equity
currency component of Non-
Share Share  Statutory Capital translation Merger Option  convertible  Accumulated Total  controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve bonds losses reserves  interests Total
bk TRRES
Ba  BfEE  iREE  EARE  BEEE  AREE BREEE  ERJR  ZHER BRE FERER 3
(Note 32(c)fl [Note 32(c)fii)  (Note 32(clfil] (Note 32(c)iv)) ~ (Note 32(c)ivl)
(Wasae (B3
(B &E3c)) (3320 i) ) (H3E3200)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETr ARETn ARETr ARETn  ARETR ARETn ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R=E-Z%-R-A 467 101,378 2239 274,282 2400 22,103) 29403 = (10,716) 397883 = 398,350
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - - (97994) (97994) 300 (98,204)
Other compreensive income: f
Exchange differences on A
ranslating foreign operations ~ EXEE - - - - 4016 - - - - 4,016 2 401
Total comprehensive loss ERREGELE
for the year - - - - 4016 - - - 97994) 93978) [302) 94.280)
Placing of shares under general [R5 —REEEERH
mandate (Note 31/ (W331) % 3,072 = = - - - - - 33,012 - 33,167
Transaction costs attrioutable to
placing of shares (Note 31) - 329) - - - - - - - 329) - 329)
At 31 December 2023 Jut it 3
t2A=t-A 562 134121 23239 274,282 6,416 22,103) 29403 = 108,710) 336,648 302 336,908
At 1 January 2024 W-%-mE-A-R 562 134121 229 274,282 6,416 (22,103) 29,403 - (108,710) 336,648 (302) 336,908
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - - (61,03) (61,083) 20 (61,083)
Other comprehensive income: £ 24 &
Exchange differences on BERNERE
wanslating foreign operations B EE - - - - 4,046 - - - - 4,046 - 4,046
Total comprehensive loss ERRE
for the year - - - - 4,046 - - - (61,083) (57017) (20 (57037)
Issue of convertible bonds BuARESR
Note 28) () - - - - - - - 6,005 - 6,005 - 6,005
At 31 December 2024 H-E-Df
t2A=t-A 562 134121 229 27428 10462 (22,103) 29403 6,005 (169,773) 285,636 (322) 285,876
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CONSOLIDATED STATE
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-N&E+-A=+—HLLFE

MENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024 2023
ZTE-ImEF T =F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR AREF T
Cash flows from operating activities K& FZEFEHELHRE
Loss before tax BB A& B (60,799) (91,358)
Adjustments for: oE B
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BMERKEITE
equipment 10,372 12,084
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,099 2,762
Amortisation of intangible assets mEE#HE 73 214
Net impairment losses on trade and B 5K H A B GIA R E
other receivables &5 18 F 8 31,403 40,736
Allowance for inventories FERE 1,712 8,569
Interest income A E A (1) =
Finance costs B 75 X AR 11,606 19,621
Gain on early termination of lease RELEEAEN K= - (240)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME BERREN
and equipment &5 18 1,71 9,566
Loss on disposal of right-of-use PEFREEEMNEIE
assets 2,946 —
Amortisation of deferred revenue i IR g (13) (489)
Operating cash flows before working LEELECEPINLERERE
capital changes 109 1,465
Change in inventories GFEEH 3,542 (22,256)
Change in trade receivables B 5 MW k18 # (73,788) 40,758
Change in prepayments, deposits and ~ FEfTZIE - & & & Hith g &
other receivables RIEEH) 48,161 39,820
Change in trade and other payables Bk HAMERMRIBE 18,178 (18,799)
Change in contract liabilities BHBEEE 201 70
Net cash (used in)/generated from KETEH (A FERE
operating activities FE (3,597) 41,058
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE-_T-_WNF+-_A=+—BItFE

2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥B TR AREBT T
Cash flows from investing activities ®REEFHFEHERE
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME & bE% & S DA &
plant and equipment and right-of-use FRHEEEMNFBRE
assets 18,222 —
Purchase of property, plant and BEVWE BEEZE
equipment (30,911) (55)
Interest received 2 HF B 1 —
Net cash used in investing activities REZEHFABE S FH (12,688) (55)
Cash flows from financing activities BZEFZEBFMERERE
Proceeds from issue of convertible BIARRESFAENRIE
bonds 18,788 —
Proceeds from issue of debentures BITESFEHRIE 4,615 —
Repayment of principal and interest of B & & A& &
borrowings A& (26,506) (10,729)
Other interest paid HtBENFE (3,139) (5,101)
Principal and interest element of HERRK E’JZJ»‘%&ZLU i)
lease payments (583) (2,054)
Repayment to shareholders 838 % R 3 E (15,088) (13,283)
Proceeds from issue of shares BEIRMGATEHIE - 33,167
Cost paid for issue of shares BEITRMH B EA A - (329)
Net cash (used in)/from financing BMEEFH (A FEBRSFHE
activities (21,913) 1,671
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ﬁ%&ﬁ%%f”%
cash equivalents ), 1R R (38,198) 42,674
Cash and cash equivalents at the E%ﬂﬁ@&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
beginning of the year 48,899 6,223
Effect of changes in foreign INEERESHHTE
exchange rate 4 2
Cash and cash equivalents at the ERBEERBESEEY
end of the year 10,705 48,899
Analysis of cash and cash RERESEEBYIN
equivalents
Bank and cash balances RITRIR D B 10,705 48,899
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ZoMFE+-A=+—BLEFE

General information and basis of
preparation

Kidztech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 October 2019
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands. The address of
its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The
address of principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit
2202, 22/F, Causeway Bay Plaza |, 489 Hennessy Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company's shares (the
“Share(s)”) were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
from 18 March 2020 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
manufacturing and sales of toy cars, procurement and
selling of raw materials and electronic parts. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss for the year of approximately
RMB61,083,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024
and, as at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and
bank balances amounted to approximately RMB10,705,000
while its current bank and other borrowings amounted
to approximately RMB125,762,000. In view of these
circumstances, the directors of the Company had given
careful consideration to the impact of the current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group.

The validity of the Group to operate as a going concern
is dependent upon the outcomes of the Group to (i)
attain profitable and positive cash flows from operations
by exploiting business development and implementing
effective cost control measures, and to ensure timely
recovery of the Group’'s outstanding trade and other
receivables; (ii) secure extensions of repayment terms with
its banks and creditors; and (iii) a facility letter granted
to the Company by an independent third party to provide
an unsecured borrowings to the Group to an extent of
HK$30,000,000. Up to the date of these consolidated
financial statements, the Company had drawn down
HK$4,000,000 from the above facility.
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—EoNER FLEZRERATF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information and basis of
preparation (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and
having taken into the above measures, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group will be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the
normal course of business for at least twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. Therefore, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a
going basis.

Notwithstanding the above, a material uncertainty exists
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its measures
as described above, which incorporate assumptions about
future events and conditions that are subject to inherent
uncertainties. Should the Group be unable to achieve the
above measures such that it would not be continued as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to reduce the carrying values of the Group's assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, where applicable. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-ZT-N&E+-A=+—HILFE

2. Adoption of new and amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards

(a) Application of amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards, which the collective
term includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs"”), Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and interpretations
(“Ints”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024,
for the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Hong Kong Int 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term

Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

2. Adoption of new and amendments to 2. %%W%ﬁTéz%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%—’%ﬂ
HKFRS Accounting Standards (Continued) S ERREEITAR(E)
(a) Application of amendments to HKFRS (a) FEEAE B BRESER

Accounting Standards (Continued) SHEANE T A (F)
The application of the amendments to HKFRS AEEZREBEABUBRE
Accounting Standards in the current year had no EHeENEBTARATE
material impact on the Group's consolidated financial HAEEAFERBESF
positions and performance for the current and EWiEFE MBIk ARER
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the X/ RZERETHERE
consolidated financial statements. THBERBESFHELAZERNY
=
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS (b) EEM{BERERNH
Accounting Standards in issue but not AIERMKREENS
yet effective sTERIR HAEFT A
Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial BEZE ﬂ$/ﬁ\ il ;79% & B
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new A - %%7?_% %ﬁ Eﬁﬁ@
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards EREETHIEENHE
and Int, which are not effective for the year ended 31 WELEA G R R EE
December 2024 and which have not been adopted in & HAE ET?’K ’ E\Z%*ﬁ ] %
these consolidated financial statements. The Group AIREBHIARBE=F
has not early applied the following which may be — M %"":E =+ — E' {Ji
relevant to the Group: FEWRE B RN Z
ZRAMBRENERR o
REBW RZEEA T
AIREER A B AR R

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUAT BEI sk 2 % 5
ﬁél\ VB D-I—quﬁﬂi%)(&

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 — Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

ERQFEAENRREBENBREENFIRUETR) —RZ AL BN —E-RF—-HA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Classification and Measurement of 1 January 2026
Financial Instruments

ERMBREENBIRREENBRELNETR(EITRN) —eBMIAENSER ZEZRF—A—H
e

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent 1 January 2026
Electricity

ERMBREENBIRREBNBRELMETR(BITX) — P REKBEE AR ZE-A~F—-A—H
FEENNED

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026

EAMBRESEA G ERFEIE — BNl ZEZAF—A—H

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027

EREVBRELANE8RE — T HERENZEINREE —E-t+tF—-A—H

Amendments to HK Int 5 — Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by 1 January 2027
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

EEREBESR(BIIR) —UBRERZEIN —EXAHEERERBERINE —E-+H¥—-HF—H
E,q E ‘TJ’\ E}j aN *E
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BHE-ZT-N&E+-A=+—HILFE

2. Adoption of new and amendments to

110

HKFRS Accounting Standards (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

2.

NHTE] BB REER

SRR H ST A ()

B8 5 1B 5K 2 RUBO 37
TEENBREEAE
SR BIR E A5 3T A (8

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUAT BB sk 2 1% F
e B EEIE AR

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets between

an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

EREPBREENFI0RRE RS ERNF 28R (BITA) —REEREBERTR

RELEZHMBEHERERA

The directors of the Company are in the process
of making an assessment of what the impacts of
these new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards and Int are expected to be in the period of
initial application. Except for below, the amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards are unlikely to have
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of
Financial Statements”, introducing new requirements
that will help to achieve comparability of the financial
performance of similar entities and provide more
relevant information and transparency to users. Even
though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the consolidated financial
statements, HKFRS 18 introduces significant changes
to the presentation of financial statements, with a
focus on information about financial performance
present in the statement of profit or loss, which
will affect how the Group present and disclose
financial performance in the financial statements.
The key changes introduced in HKFRS 18 relate to
(i) the structure of the statement of profit or loss;
(ii) required disclosures for management-defined
performance measures (which are referred to
alternative or non-GAAP performance measures);
and (iii) enhanced requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of information.

To be determined by
the HKICPA
HEBEHMAE
B

ARREEEEFEZSE
MAERMBEREERS
AR RREREEBITA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Adoption of new and amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements” (Continued)

The directors of the Company are currently assessing
the impact of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation
and the disclosures of the consolidated financial
statements.

Material accounting policy information

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicate HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by HKICPA, and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether the price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
the use of key assumptions and estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgments in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgments and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3.

112

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Separate financial statements

In the Company's statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment loss, unless the investment
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investments. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

3.
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3. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

114

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

I[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
functional currency of the operating subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), while the functional currency of the other
subsidiaries established in the People's Republic of
China (the “PRC") of the Group is Renminbi (“RMB").
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB, which is the presentation currency of the
Company. The functional currency of the Company
is HK$. The directors of the Company consider that
choosing RMB as the presentation currency best suits
the needs of the shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains or losses resulting from
this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items
that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction

in which case income and expenses

are translated at the exchange rates on the

dates,

transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised

in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation,

gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at

the closing rate.

exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Property,
plant and equipment are carried at costs less subsequent
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 30-35 years
Leasehold improvement 2-5 years
Mould and machinery 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 3-10 years
Furniture and office equipment 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

2%-3%
20%-50%
20%-33%

Land use right
Buildings
Motor vehicles

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.
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3. Material accounting policy information 3. ERGBEER(E)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HEE)
The Group as lessee (Continued) AEEERAEAN(E)
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the REFEHENKBER - Wl
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease EREMMEHUNETE - E'J$
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the SEFAEERKBHNEE
lease is not readily determinable. To determine the BEMNEHE RARETE=HE
incremental borrowing rate, the Group: R E - REE
— where possible, uses recent third-party financing — TEAREMBERT - BAE R

118

received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;
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— uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free — HANERRF KSR
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held MEMNE TEBREERE
by the group entities, which do not have recent BREHENEERRGE
third-party financing; and Y EE=FRE)ET

FHE: R
— makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, — HEHAEMEFERAE -

country, currency and security. MEEH BEXR B%RK
TR o
If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to fis] & B 7 78 A AT % 15 7] BE B 2

the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
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loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short- EEEZANER BRI - 5 H
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 HEAUKHAEH A12M@ A
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below LWTHEE - EEEEEAE

US$5,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
investments at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade
and other receivables. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The
expected credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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3. Material accounting policy information 3.
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(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group's debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core operations

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i)  the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating
of “investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of “performing”.
Performing means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there is no past due amounts.
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is un-
likely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in
the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to life-time ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was
used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for ECL.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method.
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3.

128

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the
end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered
in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as current
or non-current. Covenants that the Group is required to
comply with after the reporting period do not affect the
classification at the end of the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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3.

130

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the
loans into a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed
conversion price are regarded as compound instruments
consisting of a liability and an equity component. At the
date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is
estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debt. The difference between the
proceeds of issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing
the embedded option for the holder to convert the bonds
into equity of the Group, is included in equity as equity
component of convertible bonds within the reserve. The
liability component is carried as a liability at amortised cost
using the effective interest method until extinguished on
conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability
and equity components of the convertible bonds based on
their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The
portion related to the equity component is charged directly
to equity. The equity component is not remeasured and is
recognised in the equity component of convertible bonds
within the reserve until the loans are converted.

If the notes are converted, the equity component of
convertible bonds within the reserve, together with
the carrying amount of liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.
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3.

132

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

The Group's revenue is recognised as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Sales of toy cars

Customers obtain control of the toy cars when the
goods are delivered to and have been accepted by
them. Revenue is therefore recognised at a point in
time upon when the customers accepted the toy cars.

Procurement and selling of raw materials and
electronic parts

Customers obtain control of the raw materials and
electronic parts when the customers received the
goods directly delivered from suppliers. There is
generally only one performance obligation which is
fulfilled when the customers accepted the goods.
Revenue is therefore recognised at a point in time
upon the customers accepted the raw material and
electronic parts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulated sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the reporting period in which the
employees render the related service, are recognised
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of
the reporting year and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.
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3. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

134

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a ceiling
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances

Employees of the group companies in the PRC
are entitled to participate in various government
supervised housing funds, medical insurance and
other employee social insurance plan. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds
based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year.

Bonus entitlements

The expected expense of bonus payments are
recognised as a liability when the Group has a present
contractual or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will
eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions.
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3.

136

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of
the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
recorded as deferred revenue and recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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3.

138

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and other intangible assets
except inventories, to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is
the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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3.
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. The
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s consolidated position at the
end of the reporting period or those that indicate the going
concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events
and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

Critical judgements and key estimates

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements (other than those involving
estimates) that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are revised on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

142

(i)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

In the process of applying accounting policies, the
directors of the Company have made the following
judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(a)

(b)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, the
validity of which depends upon the successful
implementation and outcome of the measures
to be undertaken by the Group. Details are
explained in note 1.

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 3, ECL are measured as
an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage
1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk.
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

(i) Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

Revenue recognition — principal versus
agent

The Group has engaged in the procurement and
selling of raw materials and electronic parts
business. With the long established relationship
with the suppliers in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, the Group sources for and sells the
raw materials and electronic parts that suits
the customers’ specific requirement. Certain
of these trading transactions are arranged in
an indent basis and the Group does not bear
inventory risks but the credit risk.

The directors of the Company considered that
the Group has not obtained the control of those
goods being sold to the customers in the course
of these transactions, in addition, the Group is
not primarily responsible for fulling the obligation
to provide the those goods. Based on the above,
it was concluded that the Group is acting as an
agent in these sale transactions, and therefore,
revenue from these sale transactions are
accounted as an agency service income and the
net proceeds (sales amount less cost of sales) is
recognised as revenue. In determining whether
the Group is acting as a principal or as an agent,
the directors of the Company are required to
exercise significant judgement and to consider
all relevant facts and circumstances of these
trading business.
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4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

144

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are discussed below.

(a)

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation for
the Group's property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values
of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and
residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately RMB159,237,000 (2023:
HK$141,596,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b)

Impairment assessment on non-financial
assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amounts
of these assets have been determined based
on the higher of value-in-use calculations and
fair value less costs of disposal. The valuations
require use of judgements and estimates on
market data adopted.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets were approximately RMB159,237,000
and RMB9,504,000 respectively (2023:
RMB141,596,000 and RMB26,138,000).

No impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets were
recognised during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)
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(i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(c)

Impairment assessment on trade and other
receivables

The directors of the Company estimate the
amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade
and other re-ceivables based on the credit
risk of trade and other receivables. The Group
uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade and other receivables which are not
assessed individually using a provision matrix.
The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking
into consideration the Group's historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. The provision of
ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in note 5(b).

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts
of trade receivables and other receivables
were approximately RMB301,262,000
and RMB5,306,000 respectively (2023:
RMB247,366,000 and RMB33,907,000.

Net impairment losses on trade and other
receivables of approximately RMB31,403,000
(2023: RMB40,736,000) was recognised in the
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expense. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of manufacturing
and selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions. The
Group will reassess the estimates by the end of
each reporting period.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amounts of inventories were approximately
RMB19,291,000 (2023: RMB24,545,000).
Allowance for inventories of approximately
RMB1,712,000 (2023: RMB8,569,000) was
recognised in the profit or loss.
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5.

148

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities of HK$ and RMB.

Some of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities in a Group's entity with functional currency
of HK$, are denominated in currencies such as
United States dollars (“US$") and EURO (“EUR").
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the risk of movements in exchange rates between
HK$ and US$ to be insignificant since HK$ is pegged
against US$. The foreign currency risk arose with
the movements in exchange rates between HK$ and
EUR is also considered insignificant as the amounts
denominated in EUR is minimal.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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5. Financial risk management (Continued) 5. BIEEEE(E)

(b) Credit risk (b) EERK

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
trade receivables and other receivables included
in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The Group has significant concentrations of credit risk
as 58% (2023: 63%) of the Group's trade receivables
were due from 3 (2023: 3) customers. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the credit
risk exposure in relation to these customers is not
significant as these customers had sound financial
position for whom there was no recent history of
default.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made
to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
end of the reporting period with the risk of default as
at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following information is
used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;
and

— significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrowers.
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5. Financial risk management (Continued)
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(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a receivable for
write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continues to engage
in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.

Details of the credit risk of trade and other receivables
and the allowance for ECL are disclosed in note 19
and 20 respectively.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group
as disclosed in note 1 with section headed going
concern. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations and the details
of which are set out in note 1.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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5. Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, bank and other
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates. The table also includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting
period.

ZTZMFR

FLEZRRERAT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEz—

5.
(c)

T_MFEF+ A=+ —HIFE

Bt %5 LB ' 2 (4

REBE S @ (H)

TRFLAEEWIETE
imﬂ%ﬁfi’]ﬁ‘ﬂ’m #) 2 58

EA - RBNHREAEE
AREANKONKRERBHR
TREBEMNRMEAERER

Eiﬁ%&oﬁﬁfﬁﬁ* {O=]
B ERKEEIF AE’J%E{T&
HEMfER TwmRiTid %%

ﬁﬁ {1 ) ) AT B 1 KV
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EMECREBENIHA
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RERMEREMNERAE R
EME ° ﬁﬂ //|LEE/¥
A X AARMRESE
BN & ®EH RN X
mAESEE -

Total contractual undiscounted cash flows

BeNEHRRERE

On
demand or  Between  Between

Carrying within 1and 2 2and5 Over
amounts 1 year years years 5 years Total

REX -ZMm —E2% ka3
RkEE D-FR ER ER B &t
“EC-QmE RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
31 December 2024 +ZA=t-H ARBTT ARETR AR%TR ARBTR AR¥TT ARETR
Bank and other borrowings RAR A 125762 125,762 - - - 125,762
Trade and other payables BoREMERFE 119,123 119,123 - - - 119,123
License fee payable ENRES 1,867 1,867 - - - 1,867

Amount due to a related ER—A@LAF

company 962 962 - - - 962
Convertible bonds B RES 12,908 - 23,967 - - 23,967
Debentures &% 4,870 188 188 564 5,072 6,012
265,492 247902 24,155 564 5,072 271,693
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5. Financial risk management (Continued)

152

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

5. MBEREEE)

(c)

REBE S @ (H)

Total contractual undiscounted cash flows

BRNFERRERE

On demand
Carrying or within -~ Between 1 Between 2

amounts Tyear and2vyears and b years Total

BER
REE A -EZMEA ZEZLER @5t
“T-=F RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2023 +-A=1+-H ARETT AR®Trn AREBTT ARETRT ARETR
Bank and other borrowings RAREME R 143,744 143,744 - = 143,744
Trade and other payables BHREAMERNTIE 115,883 115,883 - = 115,883
Lease liabilities BERRE 565 576 - - 576
License fee payable ERNREE 1,867 1,867 - = 1,867
Amount due to a related company R —A#@E 962 962 - = 962
263,021 263,032 — — 263,032

Interest rate risk

The Group's convertible bonds are arranged at fixed
interest rates and therefore subject to fair value
interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its bank deposits and bank and other borrowings.
These deposits and borrowings bear interests at
variable rates varied with the then prevailing market
condition.

As at 31 December 2024, if the interest rate on
cash at banks and borrowings increased/decreased
by 0.5% with all other variables held constant, the
Group's post-tax losses for the year would have
been increased/decreased by RMB89,000 (20283:
RMB54,000) mainly as a result of increase in interest
income from cash at bank and increase in interest
expense from borrowings with variable rates.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.
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Financial risk management (Continued) 5.

(e) Fair values

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair

values.

(f)

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

Bt 7 [ B B (4E)
(e) A¥E

RZEZ_WER=ZFT==
F+—_A=+—8B B&E
& B3 R O R BT R BB AR
SEsMmEEREBAR
MEEEHEESEEN AT
BREE -

Financial instruments by category (f) REFEs2z2eMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the category of rEBZEENEHRIA
the Group's financial instruments at the end of the NI EBRRZBREEQNT
reporting period are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR AREB T T
Financial assets tREE
Financial assets at amortised REEXAENEREE
cost (including cash and cash PREASEBESEEY)
equivalents) 321,873 335,172
Financial liabilities TRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised R EESH KX AT BR &) © @l B &
cost 265,492 262,456

153



Kidztech Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RER M R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-ZT-N&E+-A=+—HILFE

6. Revenue 6. Wz
2024 2023
—E-_@mE —E =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR®ET T
Revenue from contracts with REEFBHBREER
customers within the scope of FIFBEEBANEFELN
HKFRS 15 B Uk 2=
Sales of toy cars HEBEE 215,410 126,340
Procurement and selling of RKEIEERME X
raw-materials and electronic parts EFEH 3,363 5,069
218,773 131,409
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: REZEFEAMKEE W :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Geographical markets B 5
Mainland China B A b 2,898 —
Hong Kong &% 215,875 131,409
Total MRt 218,773 131,409
Major products FEER
Smart toy vehicles BeeEE 215,410 126,340
Raw materials and electronic parts BEMBREFZH 3,363 5,069
Total et 218,773 131,409
Timing of revenue recognition TR S
At a point in time NE— B2 218,773 131,409
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Other income and other gains/(losses),
net

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

Hi AR H s (8
B)F

2024 2023
—E-NE T =F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR AR T T
Interest income FE A 1 —
Government grants* X KT % Bh > - 585
Exchange gains/(losses), net B 5 Wi (Fi8) 8 2,003 (531)
Loss on disposal of property, HEVE BMEARERN
plant and equipment & 18 (1,711) (9,566)
Gain on early termination of REKRIEHAEN K=
lease — 240
Loss on disposal of right-of- LEFREEENEIE
use assets (2,946) =
Others i 146 4
(2,507) (9,318)
@ Government grants mainly represent subsidies from g BEAEZRBEBFINT

Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region under the Employment Support Scheme. At the end
of the reporting period, there is no unfulfilled conditions nor
other contingencies attached to the government grants

Segment information

The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and
sales of toy cars and procurement and selling of raw
materials and electronic parts. Management reviews the
operating results of the business as one operating segment
to make decisions about resources to be allocated.
Therefore, the executive directors of the Company, being
the chief operating decision makers, regard that there
is only one operating segment which is used to make
strategic decisions. Revenue and loss before tax are
the measures reported to the executive directors of the
Company for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 3 to the financial
statements. Segment non-current assets do not include
financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

IR @ B R B R 5t % 5 3
REMMHR - NBEHKR
IR P 48 Bh Y0 4 BT D0 OR 2 AR 16
FREAMmKAEF

7 EE R

AEETENREEERERH
EUNREBREERMHRE
FTEH BEEEEHNEBLE
XERBER S —ELED -
MEHE RS ELRIRE - Bt
ARAATESR(NETELER
RE)VREB BA—EBANKED
REMERENEED B - Wt
EEBRAEBRIDRERD KR
RAFGEMERTARA AT
EEWEE -

R G R
KW EIMAMERE - 5 BIER
HEETERERTARERL
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BHE-ZT-N&E+-A=+—HILFE

8. Segment information (Continued) 8. AIEFR (&)
Geographical information ENE
The Group's revenue from external customers by location AEEKREEMHE - RE
of operations and information about its non-current assets INERRE P E AR IR EEFTE
by location of assets are detailed below: WEISHEFEREEMNE M
At
Revenue Non-current assets
Uy %5 ERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023

—E_NFE —ET-o=F ZBE-WNFE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTRIT ARETIT AR®TR ARETT

Mainland China ERETNAE: 2,898 — 175,848 178,611

Hong Kong BB 215,875 131,409 2,632 3,287

218,773 131,409 178,480 181,898
The Group's customer base included four (2023: five) AEEBRFPFERBERRZ(Z
customers with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of T RRB)RF HEE
its revenue during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set THRSGBAAEBRH=_-Z
out below: —HWE+ZA=+—HBIEEE

W10% @ &5 T -

2024 2023

—E-_MF —E-=fF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®BT T AREBF T

Customer A XA 52,537 20,675

Customer B XFB 48,025 30,082

Customer C ®FC 46,902 16,617

Customer D XFD 38,619 18,657

Customer E* BEE* N/ATE A 22,297
@ This customer did not contribute over 10% of the total & ZERPREZE-_ZT-_NF+=
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. A=+ —HBLEFEYTEEFB

ANEEBKAI0% A E
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

Loss for the year

9. FAEIE

2024 2023
—E-_ME —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR®ET T
Allowance for inventories 7 & #E
(included in cost of sales) (FGFASHE K A) 1,712 8,569
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKAN 198,728 107,814
Staff costs (including directors’ EIRAN(BERHEESHE)
emoluments) (note 12) (Bt 3E12)
— Salaries, bonus and allowance — e TEAL R EMNR 4,417 6,537
— Retirement benefits scheme — RKAE T 5 &) (K EE)
contributions (note) 110 163
Depreciation and amortisation of M¥E BERZERERESR
property, plant and equipment, ENTERBHEUNR
right-of-use assets and amortisation & JZ & & &9 & 54
of intangible assets 11,544 15,060
Short-term lease expenses MEHEERX - 183
Auditor's remuneration % R F7 BN
— Audit services — BZRB 670 1,000
— Non-audit services — E B ZRTE 100 100
Note: Contributions to the defined contribution retirement iz AEBAHEEERTHEM

R R F 8RB 2 R
AR 1R 2 B R BBy
EERERE -HNEFH
TR T2 BB R &

schemes by the Group for its employees are fully and
immediately vested in the employees once the contributions
are made. There are no contributions forfeited by the Group
on behalf of its employees who leave the plan prior to

vesting fully in such contribution. Hence, there is no such ENEE AEEIWLER
an issue whether forfeited contributions may be used by the EH QW AE far g 3k o A 1t -
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions. WA HFEASEALER

B8 W AR K 3R A
RKFZEE o
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10.

1.
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ZoMFE+-A=+—BLEFE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Finance costs 10. BhE KA
2024 2023
—E-_ME —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ART T ARET T
Interest expenses on bank borrowings R 1T & Z & | B X 4,862 6,327
Interest expenses on other borrowings H 4th {& ZAY F B 5 2 3,302 7,995
Interest expenses on lease liabilities Tﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂ’]ﬂ BRX 1 199
Interest expenses on debentures BEHHF ERXZ
(note 29) (Bt 3£29) 170 —
Imputed interest on convertible bonds A # f% & % &) # & F| 2
(note 28) (Pt 3£ 28) 122 —
Others H 3,139 5,100
11,606 19,621
Income tax expenses 1. FREHiMAxX
2024 2023
—EmEF —T=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEAR I — BB E M
— Provision for the year — FEBE 533 —
Current tax — PRC Enterprise BNEAFR 78 — B 1 2
Income Tax Fr 15 %t
— Over-provision in prior year — BAFERBEERE (249) (48)
284 (48)
Deferred tax (note 30) i S £ 18 (KT 7£30) — 6,984
284 6,936
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as ARBIBRBEREHFSRFIER
an exempted company with limited liability under the HEeRsadMK I AERREE
Companies Law of Cayman lIslands and, accordingly, is Rom At EHREBAR=2
exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. Under the BHEMEY  BEREBER XA

current laws of the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"),
entities incorporated in BVI are not subject to income tax.

E(XBEXER] B A HE
B REABREXESEMAAKL
MEREAMAMEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax expenses (Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group is eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated
entity in the Group, namely Kidztech Toys Manufacturing
Limited (“Kidztech HK"), to be taxed at the two tiered
profits tax rates, whereby profits tax will be chargeable on
the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits at 8.25% and
assessable profits above this threshold will be subject to
a rate of 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax of the other Hong
Kong incorporated group entities has been provided for at
the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT
Law"”), the EIT rate for domestic enterprises and foreign
invested enterprises is 25%. Kidztech (Guangdong)
Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd. (“Kidztech Intelligent”,
formerly known as Kidztech Intelligent Technology Co.,
Ltd.), the Group's operating subsidiary in the PRC, was
awarded the National High-tech Enterprise Certificate
which is effective for three years commencing on 1
January 2020 with applicable income tax rate being 15%
for the years from 2020 to 2023. All the other PRC entities
of the Group are subject to EIT at a rate of 25%.

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

1. FiEHmA< (&)

REBEZ-_ZE_mWFR_T_=F
+—A=+—BLEFE A&EH
EERREEZ—HAEERE B
Atk umERg(AaLtERA
LEARAB(EBTLE]D)
1% AR 15 BB BB R
¥ Itk © ®2,000,000/8 T # &
R A A 128.25% By B R 1
MR SR iR A% PR A R ER
i A #8 1216.5% B i B (= =&
ZEF MR BT o B
REBTMAIOEEEEDN
HErERM G F B 1E16.5% K
MEFTRBBNESHEE -

BEFBECERSHE(L
¥mEBHED) BRADE RN
BELENGENBERMESR
25% °c REBE R PR E BN
BraagtE(BER)SERK
ERAT([HLESE] AliE
TTESHERBEROBERAR)
ERTERSFTEREEFES
RZEZZEF—A—ARBF=F
B RZEZTFE-_FT =
FHEMNBRMBHEARIS °
AEBAAEHEMTREERE AR
25% M) TR R BMM B EFER -
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ZoMFE+-A=+—BLEFE

Income tax expenses (Continued) 1.

The reconciliation between the income tax expenses and

the loss before tax is as follows:

Frie®imx ()

FT 15 T B S B2 BR
BRanH

Br FE AT ES 18 2

2024 2023
—E-_ME —E =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR®ET T
Loss before tax R %4 B /&5 18 (60,799) (91,358)
Calculated at applicable tax rate BEBAMRENE (10,031) (15,074)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BB E &M S T 0 T R
for tax purpose X R 7 R & 9,042 7,864
Tax effect of income not taxable for A IEEH WM 5 #H A
tax purpose R A BTS2 (527) (336)
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBEEE (249) (48)
Effect of different tax rates of MBARMEER 2
subsidiaries (4,294) 4,806
Tax effect of deductible temporary WEERHAIENE R =5
difference not recognised B B 7 5 2 6,491 5,694
Tax effect of preferential tax rate EBEMENBBEE (152) =
Tax effect of tax losses not I 4 7 SR A B IE S 1B A B 1S
recognised v 4 4,030
Income tax expenses Fr 5 8 X 284 6,936
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Directors’ and five highest paid 12. EERTEBREHFMAL
individuals’ emoluments <
The emoluments of each director of the Company were as ARARZESWEMOT :
follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BZz—_E-_ME+—-_H=+—H
IEFE
Salaries,
allowances Contribution
and other to pension
Fee benefits scheme Total
5 191 BikEE
He Hib B H ¥ Eh
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(s AEETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTR

Executive directors HTES

Mr. Yu Huang REEE - 1,009 16 1,025
Mr. Zhu Qiang RREHE - 166 - 166
Non-executive director FHTES

Ms. Zheng Jingyun BHExL - - - -

Independent non-executive BUXHTEES

directors
Mr. He Weidong MEREE 1 60 - - 60
Mr. Gong Lan ERELHE 10 - - 110
Ms. Wang Shiling Tt 10 - - 10
Ms. Huang Chunlian EEELTL 2 15 - - 15
Total &t 295 1,175 16 1,486
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-—_E-_=%+=-—H=+—H

IEFE

Executive directors BTES
Mr. Yu Huang RELE — 1,000 16 1,016
Mr. Zhu Qiang RREE — 163 — 163
Non-executive director FUTES
Ms. Zheng Jingyun BEEQT — — = =
Independent non-executive BUEHTES

directors
Mr. He Weidong WERLE 1 109 = — 109
Mr. Gong Lan EREE 109 — — 109
Ms. Wang Shiling Tt 109 - - 109
Total @it 327 1,163 16 1,506
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12. Directors’ and five highest paid
individuals’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

1 Mr. He Weidong resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 15 July 2024.

2 Ms. Huang Chunlian was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 15 July 2024.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included 1 director of the Company who is Mr. Yu
Huang (2023: 1 director who was Mr. Yu Huang) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments of the remaining 4 individuals (2023: 4

individuals) are set out below:

12. EERTBRSHMAL

< (&)
it

1 MERLENR-_ZT_ME+L
A+hABBEBIENTE
=.

2 EAEEXTRN_ZT_ME+L
B+THRABEZTEBIIEHR
TEE -

FA KXEEBREZSHFHMA
TEEARF —BEFRARE
EECTZ=ZF:—FEEFAR
REXEE) EHMEe R EXE7
DT RER » SRTNBAL(Z
T=F - mBEADOME N
T

2024 2023
—E-NF —E =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREBF T

Salaries, allowances and other e SRR EMER
benefits 1,319 1,937
Contribution to pension scheme HEgY N R 49 65
1,368 2,002
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Directors’ and five highest paid
individuals’ emoluments (Continued)

The number of remaining four (2023; four), highest paid
individuals whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

12.

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

EERAEREHFMAL
o (%)

MEN TTHEERZ BT
E(CB-ZF MR RS HH
AEZ ABIMT

Number of employees

BEAE
2024 2023
—E-NE —E =
Emolument band: & 5 E :
Nil-HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to = 21,000,000 JT (F8 & 7
approximately RMB923,000) 49 N R #923,0007T) 4 4

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the directors of the Company or the chief
executive of the Company waived or agreed to waived any
emolument during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

No significant transaction, arrangement and contract in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company and the
director’'s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
ant time during the year.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

13.

HE_ZT_OMFR_ZT_=F
+—A=+—HLFE XTEH
VTEAEZSX(ESHFMHALE
NEAMME - ERIMASMA
AEBERBNHEBRIELKER
NHEE BHEZZ_OFEK
—E-=F+-_HA=+—HLF
E BERXRTNESTHARA
ERTBRABEREXRENE
ERME -

ZANYNECIR S IV ST g
BB MARREFEFRESFH
BMEATREFREBEE RN &
(TwEZRIRE) BRAEE
R AFEA M EFEDRATE
MIEREARS - KHEREH -

HQ;%\
EEgYTRERBE_ZF
“HEtT-A=t+—HLEFEE

ENEBRE(CE-=F:
T).
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Loss per share

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the loss for the
year ended 31 December 2024 attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately RMB61,063,000 (2023:
RMB97,994,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 624,564,000 (2023: 583,661,618), in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is the same with the basic loss per
share as the effect of the Company’s outstanding potential
ordinary shares in relation to share options and convertible
bonds is anti-dilutive for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

14. SREE

BREAXNER

ARl HEBEAEBHEERERES
BIEREALAEE AEMLE
E-E-_NMF+_A=+—HIE
FEEEHARE61,063,0007T
—E =% : AR%97,994,000
TEBE_ZEZ_MNOMF+=A4
—t+t—HLEFEERHTEBER
/9 IN 4 S35 624,564,000 (=

T — = % :583,661,618%) =t
BRE#EEE

BE_ZT_MNFR_FT_=F%
TZA=+—BLFE BRA
NE AR R R ] E S
ZETEINEEEARAR
BEXE WERBEEEAR
BREANEBEMER -



15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Property, plant and equipment

—EoNER FLEZRERATF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

15. % - WERKRE

Furniture
Leasehold Mould and and office  Construction in
Buildings  improvement machinery ~ Motor vehicles equipment progress Total
&3 HERE EARBH RE RERBARE kRIE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AEETT ARETT
Cost Bx
At 1 January 2023 R-8-z%5-5-8 30,659 18,214 109,875 5,402 4510 84,849 263,409
Additions RE - - 16,245 - 55 - 16,300
Disposal & - — 16,172) (239) 4) - 16,415)
Exchange differences EXZS - 47 13 89 12 - 161
At 31 December 2023 and H=gzz%
1 January 2024 t=A=1-AR
“E-RE-R-R 30,559 18,261 109,961 5,252 4513 84,849 253,455
Additions RE - - 35,038 - 225 - 35,263
Disposal ik (8,596) - - (871) (1,962) - 11,435)
Exchange differences EXZE - 80 Al 136 2 - 258
At 31 December 2024 e 3
tZh=1-A 21,963 18,341 145,020 451 2,851 84,849 27754
Accumulated depreciation and 2R FERNE
impairment
At 1 January 2023 R-8-z%-5-8 6,319 15,685 78,644 1,747 4121 — 106,522
Charge for the year EREH 910 1,350 9,305 485 U = 12,084
Disposal il = — 6,618) (227) 4) - 6,849)
Exchange differences EXZE - 47 12 3 11 - 102
At 31 December 2023 and Hogozk
1 January 2024 tZR=t-AR
“E-RE-f-R 1229 17082 81,343 2,037 4,168 - 111,859
Charge for the year ERE 910 733 8,281 424 P - 10,372
Disposal i3 (1,653) - - (578) (1,866) - (4,097)
Exchange differences EXZR - 80 Al 50 19 - 10
At 31 December 2024 e 3
tzAz1-8 6,486 1789 89,645 1,933 2,345 - 118,304
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2024 e 3
tZA=1-A 15471 446 55,375 2518 512 84,849 159,237
At 31 December 2023 it it
tZh=1-A 23,330 1179 28618 3215 405 84,849 141,596
As at 31 December 2024, buildings, mould and machinery RZE-_WF+=ZH=+ —
and motor vehicles with net book value totalling B REFELTEHOAREK
approximately RMB18,362,000 (2023: RMB31,826,000) 18,362,000t (=Z T = = F: A
was pledged as collaterals for the Group’s bank and R #31,826,0007T) K 1 F « &

borrowings (note 26).

AR ARABERERIES
AN B R 1T RS R K SR
(Kf7£26) °

165



Kidztech Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B 75 SRR MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

15.

16.

166
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Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

The Group suffered operating loss during the year ended
31 December 2024, as a result, the Group performed
impairment testing and assessed the recoverable amount
of VIU or FVLCOD of items of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets by market comparison
approach. Management selected the market transaction
prices of properties and other assets based on the
locations, years of usage and other specific features
which are similar to the assets held by the Group and
made comparison of such market prices to the carrying
amounts of the Group’'s property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets. As at 31 December 2024, the
recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets is higher than the
respective carrying amounts.

15.

Y% - BENHERE)

AEBERBE_T_HNF -
A=ZT " BLEFEEXEER
1B At & B 1T ORE RS
WHRB TG EORFEME -

BENZEARERESEER
BNEREBEEXAFERGLE

AT EEE - TR
ERBEASEFENEES
Ut - ERAFR K EMA
BRE BEEVDEREMEE
MMZEXBE®R AHZREFEM
%ﬁhA$%lm%% & 5

REAREREEENER®E
@ﬁﬁﬁ%° R-ZF-_MOF+=
A=1+—B XAEENYE B
FEhRE®BAREREEENA
WEoeRERNEENKREE -

Right-of-use assets 16. FAREE
Disclosure of lease-related items: HEHEMBER:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR T T
At 31 December: R+=-A=+—8:
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
— Land use rights — T fFE A 9,504 25,591
— Buildings —&F - 547
9,504 26,138
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

—EoNER FLEZRERATF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

16. EAEEE (&)

2024 2023
—ER-MmE —EF-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
Year ended 31 December BE+t-BR=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge of FREEETEER
right-of-use assets
— Land use rights — T fFE A 546 862
— Buildings —BF 553 1,600
— Motor vehicles — A= - 300
1,099 2,762
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEaBENFBEHRX 1 199
Expenses related to short-term leases £ %% Hi 70 & /H BF &9 B % - 183
Gain on early termination of lease REKEFEEN K= — 240
Loss on disposal of right-of-use HEGCREEENERS
assets 2,946 —
Addition of right-of-use assets REGHEEE - =
Total cash outflows/(inflows) BEMBRESRE CEA)
for leases @
Within financing cash flows RREREREA 583 2,054
Within investing activities RIEEEHNRN (12,595) =
Within operating cash flows REEHESREN — 183

The Group leases various land use rights, building and
motor vehicles. Lease agreements are typically made for
fixed periods of 2 to 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

Lease liabilities of RMBNil (2023: RMB565,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of RMBNiIl
(2023: RMB547,000) as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, land use rights with net book
value totalling approximately RMB9,504,000 (2023:
RMB25,591,000) was pledged as collateral for the Group’s

bank borrowings (note 26).

AEEEEZHLERE -
BFEERAE -HEHZWETE
HRBEER2EL0F - HE KK
TENEEETHE T
EERBIARGREGSE - HE
15 % N 4 B A0 A R 2255 - T AR
EEETSRIFERAENE
W e

R-_ZTE-_WNFE+_-_A=+—8 "
ARBZT(ZE_=ZF: AR
#565,000C) WA & & E & [
ANRBZT(ZE-_=ZF: AR
¥ 547,0007T) B FE B8 F A 1 &
EERER -

RZE-_WNE+=_A=+—
B  REFEATAOHDARE
9,504,000 (ZFE - =ZF: AR
#525,591,0007T) B = # 5 A #%&
WEREAEAEBMIRITHER
/4K 1R @ (B 5E26) o
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BHE-ZT-N&E+-A=+—HILFE

17. Intangible assets 17. BEEE
Trademark Software License rights Total
[k g AT st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTE ARETn ARETR AR%Tx

At 1 January 2023, R-B-=%-A-8"
31 December 2023, “EZ=HF+ZA=t-H-
1 January 2024 and “E-_mE-A-HK
31 December 2024 “E-ME+TZA=1+-H 1,161 4n - 1,632

Accumulated amortisation 2 EHEK

and impairment RE
At 31 December2022and HR=-FE=--&#+=-H=1+-H

1 January 2023 R-E-=%-A-H 874 471 _ 1,345
Amortisation for the year FREH 214 = — 214

At 31 December2023and R=-ZE-=F+-A=+-H

1 January 2024 k=Z-_mE-A-H 1,088 471 - 1,559
Amortisation for the year FRHH 73 - - 73
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+=A=+—-H 1,161 471 - 1,632
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 RZZB-ME+=A=+—H - - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=ZF+=ZA=t—-H 73 — — 73
During the year ended 31 December 2024, amortisation HE_ZT-_WNF+=-A=+—H
of approximately RMB73,000 (2023: RMB214,000) was IEFE - 9 AR®73,000m(=
charged and included in administrative expenses. T =F: ARM214,0007T) #

X I A AT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

Inventories 18. &
2024 2023
—EC-@OF T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBF T
Raw materials JR 4 & 18,545 5,143
Work in progress £ 2 56 1,127
Finished goods S PX 7,993 22,928
Packing materials and consumables BEME KRB R 448 1,386
27,042 30,584
Less: allowance on inventories B FERE (7,751) (6,039)
19,291 24,545
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s inventories RBEBHR AEENTFETD
were stated at net realisable value. BB FESER -
Trade receivables 19. EZEWRIE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —EB-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR T T
Trade receivables, gross B EWBRIBEEE 356,774 316,546
Less: allowance for ECL B TEBEEEBREEE (55,512) (69,180)
Trade receivables, net B 5 WRIE TR 301,262 247366
At the end of the reporting period, disaggregation of trade RBEHR REEFAELON
receivables from contract with customers are analysed as BEoORWHRENE S DTIAT:
below:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARET T
From sales of toy cars KEHEEER 184,656 102,246
Procurement and selling of FEREHERME R
raw-material and electronic parts EFEH 116,606 145,120
301,262 247,366
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BHE-ZT-N&E+-A=+—HILFE

19. Trade receivables (Continued) 19. ESREWFRIE(E)
The following is an aging analysis of gross carrying amount REREBRBERAHEZINNES
of trade receivables, presented based on the invoice dates, FEUW R IE B BR T B BR Bk 5 T 40
at the end of the years: ™
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®B T ARETTT

Less than 30 days D30k 48,449 35,171
31 days to 120 days 31 RE120K 138,953 204,572
121 days to 1 year 121K E—F 142,772 19,333
1 year to 2 years —FEWF 24,574 57470
More than 2 years i B W F 2,026 —
356,774 316,546
The Group'’s credit period granted to its major customers is BRYFAEBFEXFNEEH
mainly 90-180 days (2023: 90-180 days). Overdue balances FERIEIS0H(ZE = =4
are reviewed regularly by the directors of the Company. 90E180H) - M HA & A A R

AEEEHEHN -

Reconciliation of allowance for ECL on for trade BRI ABHEHREEEER
receivables: IR

2024 2023

—E-NEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

At 1 January ®n—A—H 69,180 38,265
Increase in loss allowance for the year 4F A /&5 18 5 {5 1% /i 24,463 44,650
Amounts written off 1 5E £ & (39,535) (14,213)
Exchange difference & X =& 1,404 478
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 55,512 69,180
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—EoNER FLEZRERATF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables that are not impaired

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” to provide for ECL under lifetime
ECL for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

19. EZRWFIR (&)
KRB ENE Z B RIEA

AEEEREBMBRE
FoORIeRTE JE’J?%(K???%E%
FMTEEZBRWAAFRREEZHAE
,H\HGEEHEIETEI’HE,H&W*E%

% 8|

- N

characteristics. The ECL also incorporate forward looking B - 7% EEHEEERE
information. f’f%)’gqﬁl AEERBERXZEE
Mo E BEHEEEIE
7T SHIEMEER -
Ageing by invoice date
REZABHINER
Less than 31daysto 121 days to 1 year to More than
30 days 120 days 1 year 2 years 2 years Total
NKE 121K
DHI0K 120% 3 -2WE BBME a3t
At 31 December 2024 R-E-mE+ZA
=t-H
Weighted average expected loss rate ~ MEFH R ERE 8.76% 10.77% 18.17% 33.91% 100%
Trade receivables, gross BHRNFELEE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 48,449 138,953 142,772 24,574 2,026 356,774
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BRBKARETT) 4,45 14,968 25,941 8,332 2,026 55,512
At 31 December 2023 R-BZZE1ZR
=t-H
Weighted average expected lossrate  MIETHEFEEZ 472% 8.59% 16.85% 81.25% =
Trade receivables, gross BHRNELEE
(RMB'000) (ARBTT) 35,171 204,572 19,333 57470 - 316,546
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BERBEARETT) 1,661 17568 3,258 46,693 — 69,180
At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables of the RBEEPR AEENE S E
Group are denominated in the following currencies: WHRIB AT E®. G E
2024 2023
—E-_MF —EC_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B TR AREBT T
RMB AR 2,898 39,535
Us$ E T 170,239 102,974
HK$ BT 183,637 174,037
356,774 316,546
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_NE+-_A=+t—HBItFEE

20. Prepayments, deposits and other 20. AIRIE-RERHAEW
receivables MIE
2024 2023
—E-mF —T=%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTF T
Prepayments (note) & A~ s 3E (M &) 82,386 112,838
Deposits Ee 4,600 5,000
Other receivables H fto & Wy 5RIR 12,628 34,289
99,614 152,127
Less: non-current portion B FEREE S
Prepayments for property, plant and ME - BERZERN
equipment T8 K IE (9,739) (14,091)
89,875 138,036
Less: allowance for ECL W TBHEEEBERE (7,322) (382)
82,553 137,654

Note: The prepayment mainly represents prepayments made in e BENREZTZEREFE
relation to the construction of buildings, prepayment for ®CBERAE BEREM
purchases of moulds, packaging and raw materials. BENBTEMNRIE -

The movement in the loss allowance for ECL of deposits RekEMERFBENERAEEE

172

and other receivables are as follow: BREBEGEZSHOT

2024 2023

—E-NE —E_=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AREF T

At 1 January ®n—A—AH 382 4,296
Allowance for the ECL provided for the 4E X 8 Hi{Z & /&5 18 # &

year 6,940 —
Reversal of allowance for the ECL for FRTEHEEHEEE

the year o - (3,914)

At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 7,322 382
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20.

Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables (Continued)

20.

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

ANREEER
IE ()

Hfth FE i

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, an analysis of RZE_NEFR_T_=F+=-H
allowance for ECL for deposits and other receivables is as =+—H R RAEMEKRKRIEDN
follows: EHEEBEEREINOT
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BHEEE REAE BREE
As at 31 December 2024 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R-ZE-NE+=A=t-H ARETRT AR¥Tn AR%®TxR
Stage 1 — 12 month ECL F-KBE—12ERBHEEER 1.39% 5,380 74
&me%—mmmEammmwh%:%&—E%ﬁ%1E%E
impaired) (BEERE) - - -
Stage 3 — Lifetime ECL (credit ~ F=BH — 2 HEHEEER
impaired) (FERE) 100% 7,248 7,248
12,628 7,322
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BHEEX FEA&E EEEE
As at 31 December 2023 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZEZ=F+-A=1+—8H ARBF T ARETT ARETR
Stage 1 — 12 month ECL E-BE—-12EABEHREESE 1.11% 34,289 382
Stage 2 — Lifetime ECL (not credit F & —2HBHEEER
impaired) (BEERME) = = -
Stage 3 — Lifetime ECL (credit E-RE—2HEHEEERR
impaired) (FERE) = — —
34,289 382
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-ZT-N&E+-A=+—HILFE

20. Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, other receivables of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

20. ANREZEREMER

A ()

RmEPHR NREEHHAME
WHRBETLIEATERE:

2024 2023
—E-@mEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B TR ARET T
RMB ARE 12,589 34,289
HK$ 7 T 39 —
12,628 34,289

21. Cash and cash equivalents 21. ReRBEEEEY
2024 2023
—E-ME el =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE TR AR T T
Cash at banks RITH & 10,585 48,783
Cash on hand FEIRS 120 116
10,705 48,899

At the end of the reporting period, bank balances and cash
of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

RBEHR AEBENRITE
BIARBE S HIEATEEE:

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR® T ARBF T

RMB AR 110 331
HK$ BT 10,593 48,451
Uss$ ET 2 14
EUR B 7T - 3
10,705 48,899
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations. Exchange of RMB into other
currencies is permitted through bank authorised to conduct
exchange business.

Trade and other payables

RERRESEEW(E)

ANREEN 855N B X 5 Bl S
EEEERMARGE SER
NEEERTNMRR AR
AEBERBETHABREILN
RITABASEMER -

22. ESR Hitb BN RKIE

2024 2023

—EMEF —EC=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T AR T T

Trade payables B SR E 54,395 49,946

Accrued other expenses EEEAEMAX 56,422 41,196

Payroll payable ENITE 2,627 3,803

Value-added tax and other tax payables 3% {& % [ H th & <t & 18 20,858 20,848

Other payables H b & 5RIA - 171
Amounts due to shareholders of the AR WNEI &)

Company (note) (B &%) 5,679 20,767

139,981 136,731

Note: The amounts due to shareholders of the Company are
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and repayable on demand.

Miat:ENARRKRERRERELR

A RFERBREREER -
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BE_Z_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

22. Trade and other payables (Continued) 22. ES R HMENSRIE(E)
An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the A EBREZEEARTEN
reporting period, based on invoice dates, is as follows: %%JEH, HERBRSTWOT :

2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARET T
Less than 30 days D30k 2,928 879
31 days to 120 days 31X E120K 13,359 11,063
121 days to 1 year 121K E—F 425 1,411
1 year to 2 years —FEWF 37,683 36,593
54,395 49,946

At the end of the reporting period, trade payables of the RFEPR AEENESE

Group are denominated in the following currencies:

MNRETIRATEMFE:

2024 2023

—EZMEF —T-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARETFIT

RMB AR 32,717 32,710
HK$ T 4,099 507
uUss E7T 17,335 16,485
EUR R 7T 244 244
54,395 49,946

23. Amount due to a related company 23. B —EE# AR E

The amount due to a related company is unsecured, non- BN — BB AR RIERER

interest bearing, and had no fixed term of repayment.

176

2R &EIEZ@%’KHWE °



24,

25.

—EoNER FLEZRERATF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

Contract liabilities 24. EHEE
Contract liabilities relating to sales of toy cars are balances HEEEREENENEER
due to customers under sales contracts. These arise when HEAHNBTRENEFNGE -
deposits were received from customers before delivery of ZEABTIRBANBERRA
the goods ordered according to the contract term. FEl B EMRIRE R IR R
TREE o
There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities RBEHAGHNEBEEHR RE
balances during the reporting period. EEREE -
Movements in contract liabilities: AHBENED:
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR T T
Balance at 1 January MW—RA—BZ#&& 890 820
Decrease in contract liabilities as FRERNRBUFTAELD
a result of recognising revenue BEMREMERENE
during the year and was included (0
in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the period (890) (820)
Increase in contract liabilities as AT P ET B B & W B BR
a result of billing in advance of BEREMEHEAENERE
delivery of goods ordered 30 1,091 890
Balance at 31 December R+—_A=+—B2&% 1,091 890
The amount of billings in advance of obligation performed RETEBIFAAENERES R
is expected to be recognised as income within one year. BN —FAERAEBA -
License fee payable 25 BIREE
2024 2023
—E_NE T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR®E T T
License fee payable R EEE
— Current — BN A 1,867 1,867
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BHE-ZT-N&E+-A=+—HILFE

26. Bank and other borrowings 26. SRITRHEMER

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ART R ARET T
Bank borrowings (secured) RITER(EER) (i) 72,101 69,697
Other borrowings H &R (ii) 53,661 74,047
125,762 143,744
The borrowings are repayable as follows: &R EIE T 5 HA R (E 52 -
2024 2023
2 F —TE=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR AREBT T
On demand or within one year BERSIR—FNRN 125,762 143,744

RBEEHR NREEHRITR
HERATINEEE:

At the end of the reporting period, bank and other
borrowings of the Group are denominated in the following

currencies:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREF T
RMB AR 115,816 131,316
HK$ B TT 9,946 12,428
125,762 143,744
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26. Bank and other borrowings (Continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the bank borrowings
were secured by:

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (note 15) and
right-of-use assets (note 16) with net book
value approximately RMB15,743,000 (2023:
RMB28,387,000) and approximately RMB9,504,000
(2023: RMB25,591,000) respectively; and

Personal guarantees provided by Mr. Yu Huang, the
executive director of the Company, and Ms. Chen
Cheng, the spouse of Mr. Yu Huang, and certain
minority shareholders of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the other borrowings

were secured by:

Property, plant and equipment (note 15) with net
book value approximately RMB2,619,000 (20283:
RMB3,439,000);

Shares of the Company held by certain shareholders
of the Company; and

Personal guarantees provided by Mr. Yu Huang, the
executive director of the Company, and Ms. Chen
Cheng, the spouse of Mr. Yu Huang, and certain
shareholders of the Company.

The interest rates per annum at the end of the reporting period
were as follows:

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEz—

26. $R1

T_MFEF+ A=+ —HIFE

TR H At & 7K (8)

it 2

(i)

(i)

WmE

mE K=
+— EI%E
£

-+ F
m |l
[ g
ﬁl” H

EEFEINOARE
15,743,000t (Z T = =
F : AR#¥28,387,0007T)
N #) A R ¥9,504,0007T
W(ZEZ=F: AR
25,591,0007T) ¥ ¥ - &
B R &M sE15) R 6
A E (K &E16) : &

B E % ECKD A #
TER)RRELZ (R
BEEBNREB) A RK
RAETLERREHR
BB A FE AR o

Z_WER_FT_=4F
A=+—8  EERA
)

FEEFENAEARE
2,619,0007C (= & = =
% : AR#3,439,0007T)
MW - RE & (K
$15) :

ARABETHRRTAH
ARA R R

BARREEERREHR
TER)RRBELZL(R
1R AERMER) R RA
ARAETRREHRNE
AR -

SHIRMFER R

2024
—EMEF —ET=-=

Borrowing

variable-rate

f& 3%

T 8 7| %

2.25%-18.00%

2.25%-18.00%
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HE—

27.

28.

180

ZoMFE+-A=+—BLEFE

Lease liabilities

27. HESE

Present value of lease

Lease payments payments
HEMR HENREE

2024 2023 2024 2023

“E-ME —E-=F “E-ME —EZ=F

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AREFT ARET R AREFT

Within one year —FR - 576 - 565

Less: Future finance charges WARBEER - (1) N/ATE A N/A & A

Present value of lease liabilities HEMFRE - 565 - 565
Less: Amount due for settlement & : + = {& B /3 2| £

within 12 months AEEMNFE - (565)

Amount due for settlement after +=EA%E Hﬁ
12 months BEENR — =

At the end of the reporting period, lease liabilities of the
Group are denominated inn the following currencies:

REEHR AEENHNHER
EATIE®IR:

2024
—EomE
RMB’000
ARMT

2023
—E-=F
RMB’'000
AREFT

oF
a3

HKS$ ;

— 565

Convertible bonds

The convertible bonds were issued on 20 December 2024
with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB18,788,000). The bonds are convertible
at the discretion of the bondholder into ordinary shares of
the Company at any time commencing from the issue date
and till the fifth business day prior to the maturity date.
The bonds are convertible to an aggregate of 124,910,000
ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.160 per share.
The maturity date is on the second anniversary of the issue
date. Details of issue of convertible bonds are disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 3 December 2024 and
20 December 2024.
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Convertible bonds (Continued) 28.

If the notes are not converted, they will be redeemed at
par on 19 December 2026. Interest of 12% per annum will
be settled with the outstanding principal at maturity date.

The net proceeds received from the issue of the
convertible loan notes have been split between the liability

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

AR E S ()

W EHFmARER AR
ZARFE+TZA+TRBRER
B o RE|EIH 55 E R
S ERFENE12%HF 2

E-I//
b T | |
S A

o /Dl]ﬂ}

BRETHNEBRERELFESN
ﬁﬁ ,TAIE/?%EET)?F D BB AP

element and an equity component, as follows: DRy  BEEwT:
2024
—E-WmE
RMB’000
AR¥T
Nominal value of convertible loan notes issued ERTAEBRERESFEE 18,788
Equity component % # & 5 (6,005)
Liability component at date of issue RETHHEHEBESD 12,783

The interest charged for the year is calculated by
applying an effective interest rate of 35.0% to the liability
component for the 24 months period since the bonds were
issued.

iWEH&Z%‘J%TJEE%%%ﬁ
-+ mEAMENAE

ERAERNX35.0%EB Hj

Movements of the liability component during the reporting RBEH BEFS>HNEFHN
period are as follows: T:
2024
—E-_MF
RMB’000
AR¥ET R
At issuance of the instrument RETITEE 12,783
Interest charged =R NN 122
Exchange re-alignment & 5 3 & 3
Liability component at 31 December 2024 RZEZ_NWEF+_A=+—HK
BEHD 12,908
2024
—E-mE
RMB’000
AR¥ET R
The liabilities component is analysed as: BESXDOMAE:
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 12,908
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29. Debentures 29. &%
As at 12 January 2024, the Company issued 1 tranches RZEBE-_NMNF—A+=ZHB" =&
of debenture with an aggregate principal value of NRBETIHESRS AeREA
HK$5,000,000 which matures on 11 January 2031. The 5,000,000 L R =-F =—
debenture is unsecured, bearing interest rates of 4% per F—A+—BEH - ZEHFA
annum. Interest will be settled annually. The carrying I FHRE4% - F B
amount of the debentures is analysed as follows: FETEE - BEFMNEBAE
Sa)im U
2024
ZE-NEF
RMB’000
AR T
At issuance of the debenture R BT EFHE 4,615
Interest charged I BR A1 B 170
Exchange difference [ % =58 85
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_WE+=-A=+—H 4,870
2024
—ENEF
RMB’000
AR®T T
Represented by: AT EEBERE:
Current portion B HA &6 o 170
Non-current portion SEBNER H & 4,700
4,870
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Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and

assets recognised by the Group.

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

30. JEEBIH

TREIAKEEERN T EE
ERERBEREE -

Impairment Accelerated
on Deferred Fair value tax
receivables revenue Tax loss gains of land  depreciation Total
THATE NEHE
BURERE BEWE REER & e &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETn  ARMTR ARBTR AR%TR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=£-f-H 1518 75 1,756 (2,392) (33) 6,984
Credit/(charge) to profitorloss — RERBRFA /(X H)
for the year (7578) (75) (1,756) 2,392 33 (6,984)
At 31 December 2023, 1 January R-Z-=%#+Zf=1-H"
2024 and 31 December 2024 “E-ME-R-BER
ZE-RE+ZA=1-A - - - - - -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of RMB33,274,000 (2023: RMB33,258,000)
available for set off against future profits. Deferred tax
has not been recognised in re-spect of such losses due to
unpredictability of future profits streams. There losses will
expire within five years for PRC and can be carried forward

indefinitely for Hong Kong.

RBREHK AEEBEARH A
T IE B B A R 33,274,000
—ZE - =% : AR%33,258,000
TR AERERKER - AR
4 K T8 R R 2R i I SRR ¢ B
BERZEEBEERECERHE -
FRENEESRAFTFANEE
MEBNEETERBESE -
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31.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Share capital 31. B4
Number of
ordinary Equivalent to
shares HK$'000 RMB’000
HER
EEREE TAR AR¥TR
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each FHR0.001E TH LB R
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R-ZZE-_=F—F—H"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 “EZ=F+ZR=+-H"
“Z-WNE-A-RR
—“E-MF+=-A=1+—H 5,000,000,000 5,000 4,470
Issued and fully paid: BROTRAR:
At 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_=%—H—H 520,886,000 521 467
Placing of shares under general mandate BE-BREERERD
(note) Cik:d) 103,678,000 104 95
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and WZE-=%+-A=+—-H-
31 December 2024 “E-ME-A-BK
“Z-_NE+ZA=1+—H 624,564,000 625 562
Note: B E -

On 26 July 2023, the Company and a placing agent entered into
a placing agreement under which the placing agent agreed to
place up to 104,177,200 placing shares to placees at the placing
price of HK$0.35 per placing share (the “Placing”). The Placing
was completed on 23 August 2023 and a total of 103,678,000
placing shares was issued. The net proceeds from the Placing,
after deduction of share placing expenses of approximately
RMB329,000, are approximately RMB32,838,000. Details of the
Placing were disclosed in announcements of the Company dated

26 July 2023 and 23 August 2023.

RZEBE_=Z=F+tA=-_+H &ARQ
AERERBIVYEEHE B
o BEERERZ M AR ALK
EBTRESERH0IETLEE
& %104,177,200/% B & & 5 ([ &
EExEE) -BREFTER=_ZT==
FNA-F+=HxKk  AHHT
103,678,000/% B2 & & 7 - B & =
BAAZREFEENGRERDEE
M % A R #329,000t8) B #
A R #32,838,0007T - AR E =
ENHFBEERAARASHEA-Z
—=F+tA-t+ARBR-ZTE-=F
NAZT+=BHR % -



—EoNER FLEZRERATF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. Other reserves

(a) The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and the consolidated

(b)

statement of changes in equity.

Reserves of the Company

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

32. HibfEE
(a) AEEmHEELBER LS

SRR TR & 2 A=
WIS 1 DR

(b) ARTFWEHE

Equity
component
Share Other Option of convertible ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve bonds losses Total
TRRES
Rt EE Affie ERERE Exg5 2R @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETn  ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 W-E-Z£-F-H 101,378 316,030 29,403 = (88,658) 358,153
Loss and total ERMEER
comprehensive loss 2ABE
for the year 2% - - - = (86,699) (86,699)
Placing of shares under BE-REERE
general mandate Kb
(note 31) (M ££31) 33,072 - - - - 3,072
Transaction costs RERNDEHERS
attributable to placing of L&
shares [note 31) (Br&E31) (329) — — — — (329)
At31December2023and R=Z==%
1 January 2024 tZA=t-Ak
“E-mE-RA-A 134121 316,030 29,403 - (175,357) 304,197
Loss and total EREER
comprehensive loss tEEA
for the year 2% - - - - (63,939) (63,939)
Issue of convertible bonds ~ E4T AT B %
(note 28] (fi3k28) - - - 6,005 - 6,005
At 31 December 2024 RZB-RE
TZA=t-H 134121 316,030 29,403 6,005 (239,296) 246,263
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32. Other reserves (Continued)

186

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the
Group

(i)

(ii)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with relevant rules and regulations
in the PRC and the Articles of Association,
companies established in PRC are required to
transfer no less than 10% of their profit after
taxation calculated under PRC accounting
standards and regulations to the statutory
reserve fund, until the accumulated total of the
fund reaches 50% of their registered capital.
The statutory reserve fund can only be used,
upon approval by the relevant authority, to offset
previous years' losses or to increase the capital
of respective companies.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 3.

32. EftufE (&)
(c) AEERBHEERA

=

(i)

(ii)

EE B

1R 3% R B9 A B 45 B &
BE KR E % =R A
Bl - R ARBER AR
AIABREPE S
R R ETERR
% BF T DLR10% &
BEEArERHE EZ
Bo RitemEL
i EABB0% © &
TEREEE S EER
iR A AR
WEBEFENEIE
REMBEERAIME
$ o

SR E A

IERBEFRERER
RN R B
ELEMFAINE =
B HEDREME
BB B ERRE
2 o
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32. Other reserves (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the
Group (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Merger reserve

In preparation for listing of the shares of
Kidztech Intelligent on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations (“NEEQ"), a
reorganisation was conducted in 2015 among
certain group entities. Such reorganisation
resulted in combination of Kidztech Intelligent
and two other group entities which were
majority owned by Mr. Yu Huang, the executive
director of the Company, and Ms. Chen Cheng.
The difference between the consideration paid
for the acquisitions and the share capital of the
two group entities were recorded as merger
reserve.

Option reserve

Option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for equity settled share-based
payments in note 3.

Equity component of convertible bonds

The equity component of convertible bonds
represents the value of the unexercised equity
component of convertible bonds issued by the
Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds
in note 3.

mE

B IS SRR MY aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

32. HAtbfE & (&)

(c) AEERBHEERA
= (%)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

OB

EHTLEBRROR
MEZBEHPNEER
HEZRS(2EF
PEERODERRL])
twmR - ETEEE
BR_ZT-—RFHET
TEH -FREMASE
HatZzEREmE
HtwEEHER(EE
BRE L E(ERA
HITES)IRRBE X
THEA AN WBHE
IR RS AN S
BERBRAZENE
BMORARGE® -

BRERE

BRERBEERTA
SEREZARITEBR
REBRB ZERNKG
FERFE REWNE
3LA B AN 48 H I DA BX
0 A 2 5B 5 4 B
BERTBRER -

THRRESESZED

AR ES R D
SR B M SESHL AT
BB 75 5% 4 1) 2 5T IR
RERNWARF ELT
B A] R BB 55 R 1T
EHEDBOMNEE -
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HE—

33.

188

ZoMFE+-A=+—BLEFE

Share-based payments

The Company conditionally adopted an share option
scheme on 13 February 2020 (the “Share Option
Scheme”), so as to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
Given that the directors of the Company are entitled to
determine any performance targets to be achieved as
well as the minimum period that an option must be held
before an option can be exercised on a case by case basis,
and that the exercise price of an option cannot in any
event fall below the price stipulated in the Listing Rules
or such higher price as may be fixed by the directors of
the Company, it is expected that grantees of an option
will make an effort to contribute to the development of
the Group to bring about an increased market price of the
Shares in order to capitalise on the benefits of the options
granted.

The directors of the Company may, at its absolute
discretion, grant options to any of the following classes
of participants: (a) any employee (whether full-time or
part-time including any executive director but excluding
any non-executive director) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity"”) in which
any member of the Group holds an equity interest; (b)
any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of the subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services
to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (d)
any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or
any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional
or otherwise) or consultant to any area of the business
or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and (h) any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement to the development and growth of the Group.

33. IR F 2 FIE
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BHE-_ZT-_NWF+-_A=+—HBItFE
Share-based payments (Continued) 33. IR X2 FIE (&)
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period BRETE SR EERAARE
of ten years from its effective date to 12 February 2030. FTEZE=FF _A+-HLIT
FHEHBFER -
Particulars of the Share Option Scheme of the Company PN B 2U E’\]ﬁ 15 & R
are set out in Appendix IV to the Company’'s prospectus AXARIBHA_-_ZT_ZTF_H1
dated 28 February 2020. ZTHNERNEBRERWED -
Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors of the BERZEZZF A=+ —
Company passed on 21 June 2022, it was resolved to grant HEBHNANAEFTSZIRZSR
an aggregate of 52,000,000 share options with an exercise ORI A 52,000,000 B
price of HK$1.17 per share entitling certain employees to e TEERSRIATET
subscribe 52,000,000 Shares of the Company. Details of HBYrETEEBEFNNRE XA A
the Company's share options are set out below: 52,000,0000% A% 17 - &N R 7] &
PRERFFIBETI AT
Granted
Date of On  during the On Exercise
Name of grant of the 1 January reporting 31 December Vesting Exercisable price per
grantee share options 2022 period 2022 period period share option
R-ZB=-=F
BRERE R-Z--F REREHH +=A SHBERE
EARAME AH -A-H B =t-8 EEE 766 5 THEE
HK$
BT
Employees 21 June 2022 — 52,000,000 52,000,000  N/A 21 June 2022 to 117
20 June 2032
E& %z @R —F-Z
ANAZT—H NAZT—HE
=%
NAZTH

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, no
share option granted was exercised, lapsed or cancelled.

All outstanding share options are exercisable at the end of
the reporting period. As at 31 December 2023 and 2024,
the outstanding share options represents approximately
8.33% and 8.33% of the issued ordinary shares of the
Company, respectively.

BHE_ZT_=FRKR_FT_NF
+t-A=+—ALFE #BEES
R KA
H

FrBm RITE B R EY ] R R
EHERTFE - R_TE_=ZFK
—EWNF+ A =1+— E rﬁ
RIOFEBEBRES MEAR

BOEER %’98.33%&8.33% o
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33.

190

Share-based payments (Continued)

The above share options at the end of the year ended 31
December 2024 have an average remaining contractual life
of 7.5 years (2023: 8.5 years). The estimated fair value of
the share options are determined using the Binomial Option
Pricing Model. The estimated fair values and significant
inputs of the model were as follows:

Option pricing model

HEEEER

33. AR 324z FE ()

FERERBEEZE_TE_NOF
+ - A=+—BHBLEFEXRNF
HHTAENF R AISF(ZE
Z=F:85%F) BREMNME
AFEDNRAB-EAHEEE
BAETE - Bt A FERER
MEZ@ASIEEINDMT

Binomial

—AR

Estimated fair vale at the measurement date
Rt ER NG A FE

No. of options granted

EERLBERESRE

Estimated fair value of each option
BHEBERENMGGTATE

Weighted average share price at the measurement date
Rt 2R MEFHRE

Exercise price

TIE(E

Exercise multiple

TEEH

Expected volatility

T8 HA % 18

Expected life

8 HA 4 Hf

Risk free rate

3 b A

Expected dividend yield

TE HA R B =

The expected volatility was determined by using the
average of annualised standard deviation of daily return of
the Company'’s historical volatility quoted by Bloomberg.

Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, an independent
firm of professional valuer, was appointed by the Company
to carry out the fair value of the share options granted
during the reporting period.

No expenses of share-based payments recognised in profit
and loss during 2023 and 2024.

HK$35,141,000
35,141,000/ 7T
52,000,000
52,000,000
HK$0.676
0.67678 7T
HK$1.15
11678 7T
HK$1.17
11738 7T

2.86

2.86

63.81%
63.81%

10 years

104

3.02%

3.02%

Nil

i

BHMREDERZEABEAR
AESLRENFHFERAK
HIEEZEE -

ARAEZERBLEXMGER
XAHEGAERIAAEEE
HARLOERELAFEET
fbfE -

RZE_=ZFR_ZF_NF
ERBEREBERUAR G M2 &K
HAY o
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Notes to the consolidated statement of

cash flows

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities

34. ZERTRMEBRME

METDHELENAESD

TREIAKEFAFER D

arising from financing activities during the year: EXENEEED:
Amounts
due to
shareholders
included  Convertible
in trade bonds -
Lease and other liahilities
Borrowings liabilities payables  component  Debentures Total
ERRENA
(FFAEZRE WRRES-
&3 HESR ftEFFTE) aEY2 &% h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETn ARETn  ARETT ARETRT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R-E==f-f-H 139,834 5,008 34,050 — — 178,892
Net changes in cash flows ReRERTE (10,729) 2,054) (13,263 - - (26,066)
Non-cash changes FRLEY
— Write-off due to early termination ~ — HHR LRI ER
B - (2,588) = = - (2,588)
— Interest expenses —fEEY 14322 199 - - - 14,521
— Currency realignment —ELEE 317 - - - - 317
At 31 December 2023 and R-B==ZfF
1 January 2024 tZA=1+-8k
ZECmE-A-A 143,744 565 20,767 - - 165,076
Net changes in cash flows ReReRgtE (26,506) (583) (15,088) 18,788 4,615 (18,774)
Non-cash changes S E )
— Equity component of convertible —-HREFES
bonds $5 - - - (6,005) - (6,005)
— Interest expenses —HER% 8,164 1 - 122 170 8,467
— Currency realignment —ERRE 360 7 - 3 85 455
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME
+-Azt+-H 125,762 - 5,679 12,908 4,870 149,219
Capital commitments 35. EAREE
The Group's capital commitments at the end of the RNEBRREBHRNE RNFEE
reporting period are as follows: R
2024 2023
—E-_NE —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBT T
Property, plant and equipment M- BERFZE
— Contracted but not provided for — BRIAB R IERE 13,088 17,440
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_NE+-_A=+t—HBItFEE

36. Summary of financial position of the

36. RATE AR R E

192

Company

2024 2023
gl 3 —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AREF T
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries % &M E A A 195,031 262,604
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H fib & W 3k 18 726 638
Amounts due from subsidiaries &I MY B A B 3 IR 84,292 34,607
Cash and cash equivalents RENMREZEY 10,428 48,473
95,446 83,718
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals expenses FEETR X 15,628 29,373
Other borrowing B & 5k 9,946 12,190
Current income tax liabilities BNERFT S B & 300 —
25,874 41,563
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 69,572 42,155
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES EEHERRBAER 264,603 304,759
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Convertible bonds Al R EFH 12,908 —
Debentures &% 4,870 —
17,778 —
NET ASSETS EEFE 246,825 304,759
Capital and reserves BRARGFEE
Share capital A& AR 562 562
Reserves f# 246,263 304,197
TOTAL EQUITY R 246,825 304,759




37.

—EoNER FLEZRERATF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the
Company

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the financial position of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

e MR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE

37. ARAEBEMBARFE

TREJIARAEERRE AN
FEXEREZRELARA
SEPBRAETEZHIHAR
AIE AR - ARBEFRA -
RHEMHBLAFNFBEEE
NBRBRITE -

excessive length.

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 AEBR_ZT_NWFR=_T ==
and 2023 are set out below. FH+-_A=+—HNEENBEL
AT o
Place of incorporation/ Percentage of the
registration/operation and Issued/ Company's Principal
Name Note nature of legal entity paid-up capital ownership interest activities
‘ ) A0
BRAL/ B8/ B8/ 2l \
£ K EEMEREAEEME HRRA BENEAR igiE9
Direct  Indirect
-3 B
Kidztech (BVI) Limited BV, Limited liability company USs1 100% —  Investment holding
BTERBRARESERAT EERAES EREAAD  1FER REARK
Kidztech Cultural Technology (BVI) Limited BVI, Limited liability company USD50,000 - 51%  Investment holding
EEROHES EREMRA  50000%T RERRK
Kidztech (China) Intelligent Technology Hong Kong, Limited liability HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Co., Limited B _ company 187 REER
STEME) BEHRARAT Bk BRAMAT
Shantou Kidztech No. 1 Technology (a) The PRC, wholly foreign owned ~ — - 100%  Investment holding
Consulting Co, Ltd. enterprise RERR
AETELE-SREEATEERAR T NEBELR
Shantou Kidztech No. 2 Technology b) The PRC, domestic enterprise RMB1,103,254 - 100%  Investment holding
Consuting Co, Ltd. HEFRLE ARH1103, 2547 RERR
NETHTE_FHREATEERAA
Kidztech Intelligent The PRC, wholly foreign owned ~ RMB78,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
BTERH enterprise AR 780000007 toy cars
T NEBERR EEHERHNE
Kidztech HK Hong Kong, Limited liability HKD500,000 - 100%  Export of toy cars
BATLE company 500,000% ¢ =R chil
R EREMAR
Shenzhen Kidztech Intemet Technology Co,, Ltd. The PRC, Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sales of toys cars through
MIETEEEBRKERAR company AE%5,0000007 e-commerce channels
RE AREEAT RETTEREENESR
Shenzhen Kidztech Internet of Things Technology The PRC, Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Research, development, and
Co,ld company A& %5,000,00070 sales of smart hardware
MIETENEBRRARAA hE FREEAT BRRAMEREE
Jundafeng (Shantou) Intelligent Technology (c) The PRC, wholly foreign — - 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
Co., Ltd. owned enterprise toy cars
RELOLR)BHMBARRA ECNEEELE FRAEREE
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37.

38.
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ZoMFE+-A=+—BLEFE

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

Notes:

(a)  Shantou Kidztech No. 1 Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. is
a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC
with registered capital of RMB1,000,000, which was yet to
be paid up as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(b)  Shantou Kidztech No. 2 Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. is a
domestic enterprise established in the PRC with registered
capital of RMB111,428,571. As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, RMB110,325,317 of the registered capital was yet to
be paid up.

(c) Jundafeng (Shantou) Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd is a
wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with
registered capital of RMB100,000, which was yet to paid up
as at 31 December 2024.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

Contingent liabilities

During the course of business, the Group has been involved
in litigations initiated by various vendors concerned with
contract disputes and repayment of debts. Some of the
litigations have been concluded by the court and/or settled,
while some of the litigations are still pending judgement.
Since the Group has already accounted for these payables
in the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are of the view that these litigations will not
have any significant financial impact to the Group.

37. ARAEBEWMBARFE
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it

(a) JWEBAT & L E —SKBH KA
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39.

40.

41.

—EoNER FLEZRERATF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related Party Transactions

Other than those balances of related party disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following material transactions with its
related parties during the year.

Key Management Compensation

Other than those disclosed in note 12, there is no
remuneration paid to key management personnel of the
Company during the year (2023: Nil).

Events after the reporting period

On 7 March 2025, the Company entered into a non-
legally binding agreement with Shandong Enesoon New
Material Technology Company Limited and Enesoon
(Shenzhen) High-end Intelligent Equipment Company
Limited for strategic cooperation in relation to capital
investment operations, the establishment of a joint
industrial investment fund, asset restructuring and merger,
trusteeship and technology equity investment, which will
enable the Company to carry out businesses in various
development sectors, including the solar power generation
industrial cluster, molten-salt energy storage technology
matrix, intelligent equipment innovation system, and
artificial intelligence application ecosystem. Details of the
above are set out in the Company's announcement dated
10 March 2025.

Approval of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March
2025.

39.

40.

41.

eI RER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—-HILFE
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Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLEFE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE —-—T-=F -—T-— —E-—fF —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETRT ARBTRT ARETT ARETR
Results ES
Revenue U % 218,773 131,409 169,431 283,843 295,913
(Loss)/profit before B P75 B Al
income tax (B51#8),/ & H (60,799) (91,358) (82,086) 31,722 32,947
Income tax credit/ FEHEe,/
(expenses) (Ax%) (284) (6,936) 5,428 (5,636) (8,804)
(Loss)/profit for the year F R (E51#8),/ % F (61,083) (98,294) (76,658) 26,086 24,143
As at 31 December
R+=B=+—-H
Assets and Liabilities EER&E
Total assets EEBSE 592,291 640,362 736,725 780,994 670,546
Total liabilities BEEE (306,415) (303,454) (338,375) (339,321) (247,004)
Net assets BEFE 285,876 336,908 398,350 441,763 423,542
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